
Please ask for Gregory Watkinson: Telephone 01775 764599 
e-mail: GWatkinson@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Tuesday, 1 May 2018 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: D Ashby, J R Astill, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, L J Eldridge, 
A Harrison, J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), A M Newton, J L Reynolds, 
E J Sneath, J Tyrrell and A R Woolf (Chairman)

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   23 April 2018



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel held on 20 February 2018 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
1 - 10)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
11 - 16)

8. Policy Register - Members are requested to note the current Policy 
Register (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
17 - 20)

9. Corporate Enforcement Policy - To consider the revised Corporate 
Enforcement Policy. (Report of Portfolio Holder – Public Protection 
enclosed)

(Pages 
21 - 40)

10. Housing Allocation Policy - To receive an update on the current review 
of the Housing Allocations Policy (Report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director – Place enclosed).

(Pages 
41 - 44)

11. Data Protection Policy - To consider a draft Data Protection Policy, Data 
Security Breach Procedure and Response Procedures for Data Subject 
Requests (Report of the Shared Executive Manager – Governance and 
Data Protection Officer Enclosed).

(Pages 
45 - 78)

12. Councillor Development Strategy - To consider the proposed approach 
to councillor training and development which has been developed for the 
Councillor Development Steering Group (Report of the Portfolio Holder – 
Governance and Customer and Executive Manager – Governance 
(Deputy Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
79 - 
100)

13. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To consider the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (Report of the Assistant 
Director, Democratic Services is enclosed)

(Pages 
101 - 
108)



14. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 20 February 2018 at 
6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)
J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
J R Astill
F Biggadike
M D Booth

H Drury
A Harrison
J L King
A M Newton

J L Reynolds
E J Sneath
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  HR Manager, Shared Strategic Housing Manager, Democratic 
Services Officer and Housing Options Manager

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors L J Eldridge 

Action By
36. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Policy Development Panel held 
on 5 December 2017 were agreed as a correct record. 

37. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest. 

38. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were none. 

39. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none. 

40. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan published on 2 
February 2018.

DECISION:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted.
 

41. POLICY REGISTER 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register that was 
dated 8 February 2018.

Councillors mentioned that some items had no dates assigned 
and some had deadlines that were long overdue (2015 deadline)

Officers provided the Panel with a verbal update on the Housing 
Allocations Policy and the Strategic Tenancy Policy, and the 
following points were raised: 

House Allocations Policy

 Officers stated that this Policy set out who was eligible for 
housing, this was a statutory policy and it was enacted in 
2013.

 It was noted that 350 households were on the register, which 
was a relatively low amount compared to other Lincolnshire 
authorities.

 A review of the Policy was to be concluded in April 2019. This 
timescale was set to allow the procurement of the correct IT 
equipment needed to set up the Policy.

 Councillors mentioned that the summary was quite broad for 
providing a reason for the delay in delivery. Officers 
responded that joining the housing register was paper based 
and lengthy. Better IT was the preferred solution rather than 
employing new staff. Members were not satisfied and 
requested more technical details. Officers stated that the IT 
implementation was a bigger piece of work than just allocation, 
and that a bespoke solution could be achieved perhaps 
slightly quicker.

 Councillors questioned why the Policy review had not taken 
place sooner, so that the Authority would be at least part way 
through the improvements at the point of the meeting. Others 
agreed and mentioned that the possibility of being 6 years out 
of date was unacceptable.

 Councillors mentioned that the review was too late in starting 
and that the timescale seemed far too long. It was suggested 
that a task group could be set up to look at this matter. 
However, it was agreed that this was not required. Instead, a 
written report providing an update would be provided to the 
next Panel meeting and that the relevant officer would be 
required to attend.

Page 2



- 3 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

Strategic Tenancy Policy

 Officers provided the background to this Policy.

 It was stated that there was no business need to review the 
Policy at the moment. This had been agreed by the relevant 
Portfolio Holder, and officers felt that it was better to review in 
a few years time.

 Councillors stated that the Policy was simply complying with 
statutory policy but that there was no particular activity. 
Officers responded that this was true that the Policy was 
compliant. Councillors added that it should be noted to review 
the Policy in 2 years time.

 Members questioned if there was currently no Business case 
to offer fixed term tenancies and whether the financial effects 
of fixed term against lifetime tenancies had been considered? 
Officers responded that the prevailing legal view at the time 
was that the fixed term element of tenancies could not be used 
if there had been a breach of tenancy. They added that there 
was already a way in place to pursue this and this would be 
monitored.

 Officers also advised that there was a system of  introductory 
tenancies for new tenants prior to them potentially being 
offered full tenancies..

 Members asked if a mix of both life-long and fixed term 
tenancies could be used. Officers stated that they could.

 Members suggested that the difference between fixed term 
and lifelong tenancies could affect the people with the 
properties, as within a fixed-term tenancy, not all people in the 
property were entitled to stay i.e if the original tenant were to 
pass away. Members also asked if this would affect Right to 
Buy. Officers  responded that it was a legal grey area, and 
they were waiting to see how this worked.

 Members requested that the Policy be considered by the 
Panel in 12 months time.

Members wanted to be advised when the Safeguarding Policy 
could be expected to be approved as this was a vital policy for the 
Authority to have in place. Members would be advised of its 
progress.

Page 3



- 4 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

AGREED:

A) That the Policy Register be noted;

B) That a full update report on the Housing Allocation Policy be 
provided to the next Panel meeting with attendance by the 
relevant officer.

C) That the Panel consider the Strategic Tenancy Policy in 12 
months time; and

D) That the Panel be advised when the Safeguarding Policy 
would be approved. 

MC 

MH, DS, 
GW 

DH 

42. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no tracking of recommendations to consider 

43. REDUCTION IN PRINTING AND POSTAGE TASK GROUP 

Councillor Astill provided a verbal update on progress of the Task 
Group’s recommendations:

 It was mentioned that the amount of members using paper 
copies of agendas for the Planning Committee was 
disappointing. 

 At the time of the meeting, 11 councillors were fully paperless.

 The full effects could not yet be measured but it was 
mentioned that there had been significant savings in both 
money and officer time as a result of the changes made 
already.

 There was a need to look at training issues to encourage 
members to adopt electronic copies.

 Members should advise Democratic Services if they could not 
access the correct Mod.Gov pages in the ‘Private’ section.

The following issues were raised:

 Councillors wanted to know the cost of the iPads versus paper 
copies.

 Some members encountered issues with their iPads because 
of a lack of internet connectivity at their homes. It was 

Page 4



- 5 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

requested that IT follow up on this.

 Councillors requested a further update on this report at the 
meeting on the 19 September 2018, once there had been a 
years worth of agendas.

AGREED:

a) That the cost of iPads versus paper copies be sought;

b) That iPad issues due to internet connectivity at members’ 
homes be considered.

c) That a further update on the Task Group’s recommendations 
be provided on 19 September 2018

AP, DS 

JW 

GW 

44. ADDITIONS TO THE HR POLICY HANDBOOK: CAREER 
BREAK POLICY; STUCK NOT SICK POLICY; DRUGS AND 
ALCOHOL POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager, 
People and Public Protection, which presented information on a 
number of new policies to the HR Policy Handbook.

Career Break Policy

Members were advised that the Policy had arisen due to a 
request from a staff member for a career break. It was noted that 
many other employers (including some  local authorities) had a 
Career Break Policy in place. It was stated that it had a benefit in 
terms of recruitment and staff retention.

Members considered the information and the following issues 
were raised:

 Councillors mentioned that the 26 week continuous service 
threshold needed for a career break seemed short. Officers 
responded that this was only a request system, and that 
the request would not necessarily be approved by 
managers if they felt the requester could not take the 
break. It was mentioned that the decisions would be made 
on a case-by-case basis.

 Councillors responded that they felt the 26 week threshold 
should be moved to a year. All Councillors agreed that a 
years’ service as a threshold to request a career break, 
rather than 26 weeks, was preferable.

Page 5



- 6 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

 Members stated that they felt the Authority needed the 
policy in order to deal with these requests. Additionally, 
they questioned if requesters could gain employment 
during these breaks. Officers answered that the break was 
unpaid and the break would not cover any paid work. 
Councillors questioned how the Authority would police 
those who take employment during the break –especially if 
they went abroad.

 Councillors questioned what level of control members 
would have over this policy. Officers responded that 
changes to the policy would need final approval from Full 
Council.

 Members  asked if a person could request this break more 
than once. Officers responded that an individual could 
make additional requests. However, the approval of such 
requests would be at the managers’ discretion.

 Councillors wanted to know if a Manager’s denial of 
approval would be recorded so that if there was a change 
in management, a record of previous requests was 
available. Officers answered that requests would be kept 
on personal HR files.

 Councillors asked what the request notice was. Officers 
answered that there was no number agreed at the time of 
the meeting, but that it could work like current annual leave 
policy, i.e. an amount of time equal to the request must be 
given as notice.

Stuck Not Sick Policy

Officers provided an overview of this Policy, and Members stated 
that they were happy with the Policy as it stood.

Alcohol, Drugs and Substance Misuse Policy.

Officers gave an overview of the Policy. The Panel considered the 
information and the following issues were raised:

 It was stated that testing would be carried out on a ‘just 
cause’ basis rather than on a random basis. Councillors 
questioned whether  ‘just cause’ was sufficient to cover all 
relevant employees. It was stated that some  supported the 
‘just cause’ policy, and the need for confidentiality. 
Members also asked who would be responsible for 
deciding if ‘just cause’ applied and reporting. Officers 

Page 6



- 7 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

answered that both of these responsibilities laid with 
managers.

 Councillors also mentioned that they felt that employees 
would be more cautious if they felt there were random 
checks, as a test could occur at any point. They also asked 
if the Policy could include both ‘just cause’ and random 
tests. Officers responded in the positive. Councillors 
agreed that this was optimal.

 Some members asked that others consider the financial 
implications of random testing. Members wondered if the 
Council could have its own testing kit, rather than having to 
rely on a costly third-party.

 The Panel favoured random checks, with ‘just cause’. It 
also asked, that the Authority should purchase an in-house 
testing kit.

DECISION:

A) That the report be noted.
B) That the threshold for requesting a career break be set at 1 

years worth of continuous service, rather than 26 weeks.
C) That a request notice be added into the Career Break Policy
D) That the Stuck Not Sick Policy be agreed; and
E) That the drugs testing protocol, set out in the Drugs, Alcohol 

and Substance Misuse Policy be based upon both ‘Just 
Cause’ and random checks, and that the Authority investigate 
procuring its own in-house drugs testing kit. 

CB 

CB 

CB 

45. ADDRESSING LONG TERM EMPTY HOMES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place. Officers provided an update on the current situation with 
regard to progress made on addressing long term empty homes . 
The following issues were raised: 

 Not as many long term empty homes had been brought 
back into use recently compared with previous years. It 
was stated that this was a national trend. Officers 
mentioned that they were looking to review the policy.

 Councillors asked if a list of empty homes in specific wards 
could be produced. Officers answered that this list was 
already underway and near completion. They mentioned 
that this would be ready within a few weeks. Members 
requested that this information be circulated when it 

Page 7



- 8 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

became available.

 Members asked how many of the increased amount of 
empty homes were related to this policy. They also asked if 
the figures could be reviewed regularly and reported on a 
monthly basis. Officers stated that the figures were a 
constantly changing picture but that officers would be 
aiming to do this in the future. 

 Members asked when the premium could be increased as 
it was still capped at 125%. Officers responded that the 
Council Tax rates had been set for 18/19 but could be 
reviewed for 19/20

 Councillors asked if wider housing functions could be built 
into the new IT systems. Officers responded in the positive.

 Councillors complimented the Housing Team in their efforts 
to reduce long term empty homes.

 Councillors asked who was making sure that the Housing 
Team’s requirements were being met. Officers advised that 
the Housing Team had been considerably affected by the 
Transformation and digital agendas, however, 
infrastructure would be considered and the Team’s views 
listened to.

 The Panel wished to continue to receive updates every 6 
months.

AGREED:

A) That the update report be noted;
B) That a list of empty homes be circulated when it became 

available. 
C) That the Panel’s compliments to the Housing Team in respect 

of their work reducing long-term empty homes be passed on.
D) That a further update be provided in 6 months time.
 

PS 

PS 

DS, PS 

46. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel.  The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 

Page 8



- 9 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 20 
February 2018

by the Panel.

Public Open Spaces Task Group

 The Task Group’s Chairman reported that the Task Group 
was going well, but that S106 agreements needed 
consideration with relevant staff. It was likely that  2/3 more 
meetings would be required.

Data Protection and Retention Task Group.

 The Chairman of the Task Group advised that it would be 
ready to report by April 2018.

Members requested that the Equalities Policy be presented in 
draft form at the meeting in April. 

AGREED:

A) That both sections of the Panel’s Work Programme, as set out 
in the report of the Executive Manager – Governance, be 
noted.

B) That the Equality Policy, in its draft form, be considered at the 
next Panel meeting. 

GW 

CB, CP, 
GW 

47. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items. 

 

(The meeting ended at 8.43 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 23 April 2018

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

2

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Award a contract 
for removal of 
Concrete Finlock 
Gutters and 
replacement to 
216 Council 
owned dwellings

To award a contract. Meetings and discussions. Officer Decisions Not 
before 5th Mar 2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Public 
Protection

Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy

To review and update the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy creating one single 
policy for South Holland and Breckland 
Council

Meetings and discussions. Corporate 
Enforcement 
Policy

Cabinet 29 May 2018

P
age 12



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

3

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Finance

Holbeach Food 
Enterprise Zone

To seek approval for the Council to 
invest in the delivery of the Holbeach 
Food Enterprise Zone

Meetings and discussions. Cabinet 29 May 2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract

To award a contract. Portfolio Holder for 
Housing. 

Meetings and discussions. 

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process

Meetings and discussions Officer Decisions Before 
30 Jun 2018

P
age 13



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

4

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager.

Informal meetings and 
discussions.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

To consider the adoption of the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy

Meetings and discussions Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy

Cabinet 20 Nov 2018

*Cabinet Membership

P
age 14



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

5

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 15

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

SHDC Policy Register (New) 
 
Generated on: 06 April 2018 

Rows are sorted by Approved Date

Policy Title Policy Type Approved
Date

Policy Review
Cycle 

Policy Status Policy Risk
Level 

Final Panel for
Approval

Date to Final
Approval Panel

Assigned To

Street Naming and
Numbering Policy

Statutory 01-Jan-2005 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Cabinet 22-May-2018 Clinton Bell

Records Management
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2005 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Cabinet 24-May-2018 Mark Stinson

Affordable Housing
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Jan-2009 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Cabinet 04-Apr-2018 Matthew Hogan

Strategic Tenancy
Policy

Statutory 12-Sep-2012 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Cabinet   Matthew Hogan

South Holland Common
Housing Allocations
Policy

Statutory 01-Jun-2013 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Full Council   Phil Stacey

Equalities Policy Non Statutory 31-Jan-2014 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Full Council 31-May-2018 Greg Pearson

Data Protection Policy Statutory 01-Jun-2014 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Cabinet 22-May-2018 Mark Stinson

Freedom of Information
(FoI) Policy

Statutory 01-Jun-2014 3 years Being
Reviewed

High Cabinet 01-May-2018 Greg Pearson

Asset Management
Strategy

Constitutional 18-Jun-2014 5 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jun-2019 Gerry McKevitt

Gambling Policy -
Statement of Principles

Constitutional 16-Dec-2015 3 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jan-2019 Donna Hall

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory 01-Jan-2016 3 years Approved High County Strategy 31-Dec-2018 Dee Bedford
Statement of Licensing
Policy

Constitutional 07-Jan-2016 4 years Approved High Full Council 20-Jan-2020 Donna Hall

AHM Collections
Development Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2016 2 years Being
Reviewed

Medium Cabinet 27-Mar-2018 Julia Knight

AHM Collections Care
and Conservation
Policy

Non Statutory 01-Feb-2016 2 years Being
Reviewed

Medium Cabinet 27-Mar-2018 Julia Knight

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 8.



2

Policy Title Policy Type Approved
Date

Policy Review
Cycle 

Policy Status Policy Risk
Level 

Final Panel for
Approval

Date to Final
Approval Panel

Assigned To

Corporate Asbestos
Policy

Statutory 22-Jun-2016 2 years Approved High Cabinet 20-Jun-2018 Emily Ferrier1; Nick
Kendrick

Anti-Social Behaviour
Policy

Statutory 01-Jul-2016 3 years Approved High Cabinet 01-Jul-2019 Dee Bedford

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory 18-Jan-2017 3 years Approved Medium Full Council 20-Jan-2020 Claire Burton
Corporate Debt Policy -
Accounting Services

Non Statutory 25-Jul-2017 3 years Being
Reviewed

Low Cabinet 25-Jul-2020 Mark Astbury

Sexual Establishments
Policy Statement

Non Statutory 06-Sep-2017 3 years Approved Medium Licensing
Committee

06-Sep-2020 Donna Hall

Unreasonable
Behaviour and
vexatious requests

Non Statutory 21-Nov-2017 3 years Approved Medium Cabinet 01-Nov-2020 Sarah Wolstenholme-
Smy

Health & Safety Policy Statutory 22-Nov-2017 2 years Approved High Cabinet 01-Nov-2019 Emily Ferrier1; Nick
Kendrick

Counter Fraud and
Corruption Policy

Non Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years Approved Low Cabinet 14-Dec-2020 Emma Hodds

Whistleblowing Policy -
Confidential Reporting
Code

Statutory 14-Dec-2017 3 years Approved High Full Council 14-Dec-2020 Emma Hodds

Constitution Statutory 18-Jan-2018 1 year Approved High Full Council 17-Jan-2019 Rhonda Booth
Corporate Plan Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved High Full Council 21-Feb-2019 Greg Pearson
Capital Strategy Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 08-Mar-2019 Mark Astbury
Corporate Charging
Policy - Accounting
Services

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Medium Term Financial
Strategy

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Treasury Management
Strategy Statement

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Treasury Policy
Statement & Clauses to
be Adopted

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy
Statement

Constitutional 08-Mar-2018 1 year Approved Medium Full Council 27-Feb-2018 Mark Astbury

Safeguarding Policy Statutory   3 years New High Cabinet 22-May-2018 Donna Hall

P
age 18



3

 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Anthony Casson, Portfolio Holder for Public Protection 

To: Policy Development Panel, 24 April 2018
Cabinet, 29 May 2018

Author: Sarah Shipley, Food Health and Safety Manager

Subject Corporate Enforcement Policy

Purpose: To seek approval of a revised Corporate Enforcement Policy

Recommendation: 

1) That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be approved by Cabinet

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation, with powers of 
enforcement usually delegated to individual officers in the various service areas concerned.  
The decision to take (or not take) enforcement action is a serious one that may have 
implications for all involved and it is therefore important that there is a policy in place that 
ensures fairness, openness, and consistency.

1.2 Enforcement action can take different forms including:
 Inspecting premises, processes, equipment or food
 Investigating complaints about individuals and business 
 Providing advice about how to comply with the law
 Taking action at Licensing Panels or undertaking Licensing Reviews
 Issuing fixed penalty notices, statutory notices or taking prosecutions

1.3 South Holland Council last adopted a Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy in 2004. 
This policy was written in accordance with the Enforcement Concordat, which has since 
been superseded, first by the Regulators’ Compliance Code, and more recently by the 
Regulators’ Code.

1.4 Main Changes
1.4.1 The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 imposes a duty on anyone exercising a 

specified regulatory function to have regard to the principles of good regulation.  The 
principles provide that regulatory activities should be carried out in a way that is 
transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent and should be targeted only at 
cases in which action is needed.

1.4.2 Under Section 23 of the Act, the Minister issued the Regulators’ Code in 2014, which gives 
guidance on exercising regulatory functions. As a regulatory body, the Council is under a 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9.



duty to have regard to the Code in exercising regulatory powers, setting standards or giving 
general advice. 

1.4.3 The proposed policy, attached as an appendix to this report, creates one single, joint 
Corporate Enforcement Policy and brings it in-line with current requirements. The proposed 
Policy starts from the premise that most businesses and individuals want to comply with the 
law. Help and support will be provided to enable them to meet their legal obligations without 
unnecessary expenses, while firm action will be taken against those who flout the law or act 
irresponsibly. It seeks to assist officers in the decision making process, to ensure a 
consistent approach when using the range of enforcement tools available to them.

1.4.4 In revising this Policy, officers have considered how best to:
 Understand and minimise negative economic impacts of enforcement activities;
 Minimise the costs of compliance for those who are regulated;
 Improve confidence in compliance for those who are regulated; and
 Encourage and promote compliance with legislative requirements.

1.4.5 The intention of the draft Policy is to ensure that any enforcement action is compliant with 
the relevant legislation, codes of practice and government guidance. Also it must be 
transparent and accountable, proportionate, targeted, consistent in approach and 
appropriate.

1.4.6 The diversity of regulatory powers makes it difficult to encapsulate detailed processes in 
this policy. Often there are detailed and differing processes that need to be followed. For 
this reason, whilst the policy sets out principles that will be followed, more detail is 
contained in service specific policies which will form appendices to the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy. 

1.4.7 The policy will apply to all Council services with enforcement functions: 

Legal;
Place – Communities, Housing and Environmental Services;
Public Protection;
Planning and Building Control;
Finance and 
Revenue and Benefits.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Adopt the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy to guide all enforcement activities 
undertaken by all service areas with a regulatory responsibility.

2.2 Do nothing and retain the previous published Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy 
dated 2004, contrary to current regulatory requirements and statutory guidance.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure legal compliance and to ensure that enforcement action taken by the Council is 
better able the resist a challenge in the courts

Page 22



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1` A revised Corporate Enforcement Policy will set out the standards that will be applied 
across the Council, when acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency, and what 
residents, business and workers can expect from South Holland Council.

4.2 The adoption of a revised policy will ensure that officers undertaking regulatory work will do 
so in a consistent and transparent way, and in accordance with current legal requirements.  

4.3.1 This will ensure a reduced risk of challenge in the courts and the potential loss of a case for 
failing to comply with correct procedure.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS
5.1  In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
5.1.1 This report has no carbon footprint or environmental implications

5.2 Constitutional & Legal
5.2.1 The Council is under a duty to have regard to the Regulators’ Code when exercising its 

regulatory powers, setting standards or giving general advice. 

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 This report does not give rise to any contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 The proposals support the following Council priorities:

 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable;

 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 
and thrive;

 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way;
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

5.5 Crime and Disorder
5.5.1 This report supports regulatory work undertaken by the Council.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.6.1 This report does not give rise to any equality and diversity, or human rights implications.

5.7 Financial
5.7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report

Page 23



5.8 Health & Wellbeing
5.8.1 This report supports the regulatory work undertaken by the Council to promote health & 

wellbeing of residents, visitors and workers.

5.9 Reputation
5.9.1 The adoption of the Corporate Enforcement Policy will ensure that regulatory activities are 

undertaken in an open and transparent manner and in accordance with current statutory 
requirements, promoting a positive image of the Council.

5.10 Risk Management
5.10.1 The adoption of a Corporate Enforcement Policy that is followed by staff while undertaking 

regulatory activities should reduce the risk of the Council being open to legal challenge or 
judicial review if decisions are made based on incorrect procedure.

5.11 Safeguarding
5.11.1 This report does not give rise to any safeguarding implications

5.12 Staffing
5.12.1 This report does not give rise to any staffing implications, other than ensuring that those 

involved in regulatory activities are made aware of the new policy and procedures reviewed 
to ensure compliance. 

5.13 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
5.13.1 The draft Corporate Enforcement Policy has been developed in consultation with all service 

areas of the Council involved in regulatory work.
5.13.2 A copy of the draft Corporate Enforcement Policy has also be sent to key stakeholders and 

on the Council’s website inviting comment.

5.14 Transformation Programme
5.14.1 This report does not give rise to any implications for the Transformation Programme

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards and communities within South Holland

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 All acronyms are clarified within the body of the report.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Shipley, Food Health and Safety Manager
Telephone Number 07814 786738
Email: sarah.shipley@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Page 24



Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Corporate Enforcement Policy

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Breckland Council and South Holland Council

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy

DRAFT

Date: Second draft 6/1218
Revision Date:
Authorised by:

Page 27



2

Table of Contents                                   Page
Section 1. Introduction         3

Section 2. Purpose of the Policy 5

Section 3. When this policy applies 5
3.1 Scope of the Policy 5

Section 4. Non-Compliance 6
4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance 6
4.2 How action taken is determined 7
4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches 7
4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance 8

Section 5. Conduct of Investigations 8
5.1 Powers of authorised officers 8
5.2 Progress of investigations 9

Section 6. Decisions on Enforcement Action 9
6.1 The range of actions available as set out in legislation 9
6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action 12
6.3 Explanation of how decisions are communicated to those affected 13

Section 7. Review of this Policy 13
7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed 13

Section 8. Comments and Complaints 13
8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals 13

Page 28



3

Corporate Enforcement Policy

1. Introduction
The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory roles in meeting its many 
statutory duties of protecting the public, individuals and the environment. 
These duties are met by carrying out a range of activities, including carrying 
out programmed inspections of premises, responding to complaints, issuing 
licences and offering advice. This Policy outlines the approach it takes when 
considering enforcement action. 

This policy is an overarching policy that applies to all the Council’s Services 
with enforcement duties, although it should be noted that some services also 
have more specific enforcement requirements, as defined by specific 
legislative guidance and regulations.

The appropriate use of the full range of enforcement powers, including 
prosecution, is important, both to secure compliance with the law and to 
ensure that those who have duties under it are held to account for failures to 
safeguard health, safety, welfare and environment or breach of regulations 
enforced by the Council.

In deciding on the most appropriate course of action officers should have 
regard to the principles set out in this policy and the need to maintain a 
balance between enforcement and other activities, including inspection, 
advice and education.

a) Principles of Good Regulation
Regulatory activities undertaken by the Council will be exercised in a way that 
are:

i. Proportionate – activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and 
enforcement action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence;

ii. Accountable – activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and 
accessible policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures;

iii. Consistent – advice given to those regulated will be robust and reliable 
and officers will respect advice provided by other regulators. The Council 
shall seek to ensure consistency of enforcement; however the Council 
realises that consistency is not a simple matter of uniformity. Officers will 
need to exercise their professional judgement and discretion according to 
the circumstances of each individual case and the relevant responsibilities 
and intervention systems maintained by the Council;

iv. Transparent – Officers will ensure that those they regulate are able to 
understand what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in 
return, and

v. Targeted – Resources will be focused on higher risk enterprises and 
activities, reflecting local need and national priorities and where the 

Page 29



4

Council believes its efforts are able to have an impact.

b) Regulators’ Code
The Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code in the preparation of this 
policy. In certain instances it may conclude that a provision in the Code is 
either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision. Where statutory 
guidance and legislation specifies the action to be taken this legislation takes 
precedence.

c) Human Rights Act 1998
The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 
1998. It therefore applies the principles of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all 
associated enforcement decisions take account of the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is had to the right to a fair 
trial and the right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence.

d) General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018
Officers will comply with all relevant data protection laws and any associated 
statutes, regulations and guidance.

e) The Code for Crown Prosecutors
When deciding whether to institute criminal proceedings the Council has 
regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the 
Director of Public Prosecutions.

The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the 
general principles to follow when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting 
cases. The Code sets out two tests that must be satisfied commonly referred 
to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public Interest Test’:

(i) Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant?
When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the 
Council will consider what evidence can be used in court and is 
reliable. It must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide a 
"realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender.

(ii) Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be 
brought to court? The Council will balance factors for and against 
prosecution carefully and fairly, considering each case on its merits. 
The public interest factors that we will take into account are detailed 
under the enforcement options available to us in Section 6.

Legal Status of this Enforcement Policy
This Policy was approved by the (*TO BE INSERTED and was adopted by
Council on TO BE INSERTED) following an open public consultation between 
and )

Page 30



5

2. Purpose of this Policy
One of the functions of the Council is to act as a regulator and an 
enforcement agency for a large range of legal duties and powers applied by 
Acts of Parliament and the Regulations and Orders made under them 
(including various byelaws).

This policy sets out standards that will be applied across the Council when 
acting in its role as regulator and enforcement agency and what residents, 
businesses, consumers and workers can expect from the Council.

It is supplemented in some cases by more specific and detailed service-based 
procedures.

These procedures also set out the approach to be followed by authorised 
officers when making decisions in respect of the Council’s compliance and 
enforcement activities. The Council is committed to ensuring that all 
authorised officers will act in accordance with this policy.

3. When this Policy Applies

3.1 Scope of the Policy
This policy is the overarching enforcement policy for the Council. It outlines 
the approach to enforcement and lays down the principles that will be followed 
in deciding upon, and taking action.

Enforcement includes any criminal or civil action taken by the Council aimed 
at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law.

This policy has been set in accordance with the Regulators’ Code. This 
means that the Council will be open, helpful, fair and careful to ensure that 
any action required by the Council is proportionate to the risks.

The Council has set out its strategic aims and objectives and its enforcement 
services will carry out their duties in support of these. This approach is 
intended to provide better information to businesses and the community and, 
by doing so, lend support to the Council’s aim to deliver the right service, at 
the right time and in the right way.

Council services will work with and consult other agencies, and other service 
areas within the Council, as necessary, where there is a shared or 
complementary enforcement role.

Officers will take reasonable steps to assist businesses and individuals to 
comply with the law. However officers will be prepared to ensure compliance 
by exercising the formal powers delegated to them in the Council's Scheme of 
Delegation including, where appropriate, prosecution.

In certain circumstances the Council will seek to raise awareness and 

Page 31



6

increase compliance levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal 
activity. Where appropriate the results of specific court cases may also be 
published.

4. Non-Compliance

4.1 Approach to dealing with non-compliance
An open, fair and proportionate approach will be taken in dealing with 
breaches of legislation that are regulated and enforced by the Council. 
Raising awareness and promoting good practice in regulated areas is the first 
step in preventing breaches, and officers of the Council will signpost to 
guidance on aspects of the law where requested to do so.

Best efforts will be used to resolve any issues where the law may have been 
broken without taking formal action, or referring the matter to the courts when 
the circumstances indicate that a minor offence may have been committed 
and the Council is confident that appropriate corrective action will be taken. 
However, there may be occasions when the breach is considered to be 
serious and/or where informal action is not appropriate. In such cases, 
immediate enforcement action may be taken without prior notice and, as 
noted above, some services have specific legislative guidance and 
regulations that set out the enforcement requirements in these services.

Advice regarding the non-compliance, the actions required and decisions 
taken at the time of the intervention, along with the reasons for these will be 
clearly explained. An opportunity to discuss the Council’s course of action will 
be provided to ensure actions are proportionate and consistent. As stated in 
the previous paragraph, where immediate enforcement action is required, the 
opportunity for discussion may not be given where there is a serious breach 
or public health or safety is at risk.

Officers investigate potential breaches of legislation and they are responsible 
for managing investigations and making decisions on enforcement action. As 
part of this process, they may consult with colleagues and managers in 
determining the best and most appropriate course of action. Officers have the 
power to use a variety of legislation in the course of their duties, and these 
have been delegated to them in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.  In relation to prosecutions, where relevant, officers’ cases are 
reviewed by a service manager and approved following a case conference 
involving key officers, as defined in the Scheme of Delegation.

In some instances, the Council may have shared responsibilities or a 
complementary role with another enforcement agency. In these 
circumstances, officers will liaise with that other agency to ensure effective co-
ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that any proceedings taken 
are proportionate and appropriate.

The Council will be fair, objective and consistent in its approach to 
enforcement by following the criteria and guidance set down in relevant 
legislation and codes of practice.

Page 32



7

The Council may publicise information about enforcement action in line with 
the Criminal Justice System document entitled ‘Publicising Sentencing 
Outcomes’.  This will usually occur once an investigation has been brought to 
a conclusion via a successful prosecution in Court. Any news releases of this 
nature are normally sent electronically by the Communications Team to 
newspapers and broadcast media to use in their news bulletins. Such 
information may also be publicised on the Council’s website and via other 
social media.

4.2 How action taken is determined
Where evidence is found that a business or other regulated person is showing 
flagrant disregard for the law by deliberately or persistently failing to comply 
with advice or requests made by the Council, it may be deemed that informal 
action is not appropriate. Under these circumstances enforcement action may 
be escalated directly to prosecution or other more severe sanctions where 
available.

Where there is specific legislative guidance and regulations that set out the 
enforcement requirements these will be followed.

Where a business or other regulated person contacts the Council to ask for 
advice and it transpires that a breach of legislation is present at the premises, 
the most appropriate course of action will be determined based on the factors 
outlined in section 6 below.

If it is clear that the business or regulated person is keen to resolve the non-
compliance quickly, taking on board and completing the steps recommended 
by the Council, an informal approach is likely to be taken as opposed to 
triggering enforcement action.  However, if there is a serious breach and/or 
there is an imminent risk to public health or safety, enforcement action may 
still have to be taken but the Council will seek to work with the business or 
regulated person to resolve the problem as quickly as possible.

4.3 Factors that influence our response to breaches
Where a breach of legislation is being investigated the approach taken will be 
proportionate and will take into account factors such as business size and 
capacity.

If the Council has provided advice or guidance to a business or regulated 
person, officers will make the necessary checks to ensure that, where this 
relates to a legal requirement rather than best practice, the non-compliance 
has been rectified.

The Council may receive referrals from other enforcement bodies that require 
investigation. These referrals will typically be as a result of the other bodies’ 
inspections or investigations, or intelligence that they have received. The 
Council will also refer to other enforcement bodies where breaches of 
legislation that are dealt with by that body are found.

Page 33



8

4.4 Approach to complaints of non-compliance
Where a complaint of non-compliance relating to a business, or other 
regulated person, is received the officers investigating this breach will assess 
the information received and may make further enquiries to determine 
whether a complaint requires investigation. In assessing a complaint, officers 
may consult colleagues and managers to help assess what risk may be 
involved and this will determine what action is taken.

5. Conduct of Investigations
Enforcement action may result in either civil or criminal proceedings being 
instituted by the Council. The process that will be followed by officers in the 
investigation of alleged breaches of the law will depend on which branch of 
law the investigation is being conducted under.  As the enforcing authority in 
any proceedings it instigates, the burden of proof falls to the Council.

Investigations will be carried out in compliance with the following legislation 
and in accordance with any associated guidance or codes of practice, in so 
far as they relate to the Council:
 The Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996;
 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000;
 The Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001;
 The Human Rights Act 1998;
 The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984

These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and 
used and give a range of protections to citizens and potential defendants.

The authorised officers of the Council will also comply with the requirements 
of the particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any 
associated guidance or codes of practice.

5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers
There are numerous pieces of legislation which the Council as a local 
authority either has a duty to enforce or adopts or chooses to enforce. The 
powers available to officers under these different pieces of legislation vary 
considerably and it is not the purpose of this document to provide an 
exhaustive list of those powers.

If officers come across situations where they believe they are being 
obstructed in carrying out their duties they will always explain the provisions of 
the relevant legislation in order to resolve the issue.

The Council recognises the Primary Authority scheme and where appropriate 
will communicate with any identified primary authority as part of the 
enforcement/compliance process.

In some cases powers of seizure are used for safety and evidence gathering 
purposes.  Where articles are removed for any of these purposes a receipt or 
notice will be given at the time of the inspection or as soon as is practicably 

Page 34



9

possible afterwards.

Officers do not have the power of arrest; however joint working is undertaken 
with the Police and other agencies. Instances may arise where the Police or 
other agencies consider that an arrest should be made in connection with an 
authorised officer’s investigation.

Officers will carry out formal interviews in line with this policy and the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act 1984.

In respect of legislation in England that contains criminal offences, there are 
strict time limits beyond which the law prevents proceedings being instituted. 
These time limits vary and are stated in the relevant legislation.

In relevant cases where it is proposed that either criminal or civil proceedings 
are to be brought by the Council a report will be prepared containing all 
relevant evidence that has been gathered during an investigation. This report 
will be reviewed by a manager and case conference called to consider the 
matter, in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  The 
evidence will usually also be reviewed by a solicitor before any proceedings 
are instigated.

5.2 Progress of Investigations
Officers carrying out investigations will keep alleged offenders and witnesses 
informed about the progress of any investigation as far as their involvement in 
the process is concerned.

6. Decisions on Enforcement Action

6.1 The Range of Actions Available as Set Out in Legislation
There are a range of actions that are available to the Council as set out in the 
different legislation the Council enforces. Examples of the main types of 
actions that may be considered are set out below:

a) Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support
The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first 
response in the case of many breaches of legislation that are identified. 
Advice is provided, sometimes in the form of a warning letter to assist 
individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as quickly and efficiently as 
possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A warning letter 
(sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to 
rectify the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified 
in the future, this letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate 
enforcement action to take on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in 
court as a previous conviction but it may be presented in evidence.

Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or 
prosecution, is taken, the Council recognises that there is likely to be an 
ongoing need for compliance advice and support, to prevent further breaches.

Page 35



10

b) Voluntary Undertakings
The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified 
and/or recurrences prevented. The Council will take any failure to honour 
voluntary undertakings very seriously and enforcement action is likely to 
result.

c) Statutory (Legal) Notices
The Council has powers to issue statutory notices in respect of many 
breaches.  These include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices/Orders’, 
‘Emergency Prohibition Notices/Orders’, and ‘Improvement Notices’. Such 
notices are legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory notice can be a 
criminal offence and may lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the 
carrying out of work in default.

A statutory notice will clearly set out actions that must be taken and the 
timescale within which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any 
breach be rectified and/or prevented from recurring. It may also prohibit 
specified activities until such time as prescribed works/safeguards have been 
carried out to the satisfaction of the authority. Where a statutory notice is 
issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided to the recipient.

Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises 
and/or registered as local land charges.

d) Financial Penalties
The Council has powers to issue fixed penalty notices or penalty charge 
notices in respect of some breaches. A fixed penalty notice or penalty charge 
notice is not a criminal fine, and does not appear on an individual’s criminal 
record. If a fixed penalty/penalty charge notice is not paid, the Council may 
commence criminal proceedings in respect of the breach or take civil 
enforcement action to recover the penalty charge subject to the provisions of 
the relevant legislation.

If a fixed penalty/ penalty charge notice is paid in respect of a breach the 
Council will not take any further enforcement action in respect of that breach. 
Payment of a fixed penalty does not provide immunity from prosecution in 
respect of similar or recurrent breaches.

The Council is only able to issue fixed penalty notices where it has specific 
powers to do so. If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at the 
Council’s discretion.

In some circumstances, in particular where breaches are serious or recurrent, 
it may be that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a fixed 
penalty notice.

e) Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc.
In some circumstances the Council may seek a direction from the court (in the 
form of an order or an injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented 
from recurring.  The court may also direct that specified activities be 

Page 36



11

suspended until the breach has been rectified and/or safeguards have been 
put in place to prevent future breaches.

Failure to comply with a court order constitutes Contempt of Court, a serious 
offence that may lead to imprisonment.

The Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some 
enforcement notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the 
restrictions imposed by the notice. Otherwise, the Council will usually only 
seek a court order if it has serious concerns about compliance with voluntary 
undertakings or a notice.

f) Simple Caution
The Council has the power to issue Simple Cautions (previously known as 
‘Formal Cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious 
offences, where a person admits an offence and consents to the Simple 
Caution. Where a Simple Caution is offered and declined, the Council is likely 
to consider prosecution.

A Simple Caution will appear on the offender’s criminal record.  It is likely to 
influence how the Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the 
future, and may be cited in court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for 
a similar offence. If a Simple Caution is issued to an individual (rather than a 
corporation) it may have consequences if that individual seeks certain types of 
employment.

Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Ministry of Justice document 
‘Simple Cautions for Adult Offenders’.

g) Prosecution
The Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or 
where other enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory 
notices have failed to secure compliance. When deciding whether to 
prosecute the Council has regard to the provisions of The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions.

Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has 
sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the 
defendant(s).

If the evidential test is satisfied a prosecution will usually take place unless 
there are public interest factors tending against prosecution that outweigh 
those tending in favour. The more serious the offence or the offender’s record 
of breaches/ criminal behaviour, the more likely it is that prosecution will be 
required in the public interest.

Assessing the public interest is not merely a matter of adding up the number 
of factors on each side and seeing which has the greater number. The public 
interest must be decided on the merits of each individual case and making an 
overall assessment. It is quite possible that one factor alone may outweigh a 

Page 37



12

number of other factors that tend in the opposite direction.

A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may 
impose a fine and in respect of particularly serious breaches a prison 
sentence. The court may order the forfeiture and disposal of non-compliant 
goods and/or the confiscation of any profits that have resulted from the 
breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the 
disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors.

h) Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences
The Council issues a number of different licences, consents, registrations and 
permits. They are applied for by submission of an application, the form and 
content of which is sometimes specified in law. Applications are generally 
granted for a limited defined period and will be required to be renewed 
annually unless otherwise specified.

The Council may be permitted to ask supplementary questions on an 
application form in order to assist it in reaching a decision on whether the 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence.

In some cases applications are subject to either a public or interested party 
consultation process and any application that attracts adverse comment or 
objection or does not meet Council policy requirements will be referred to an 
internal civil hearing forum to determine the application.

Most licences and other permissions have conditions attached, which can be 
standard conditions or specific conditions or a combination of both. These 
conditions form part of the licence and lay down requirements that a business 
or individual must have regard to when trading. Breach of a condition may be 
a civil or criminal matter.

When considering applications information supplied with the application 
together with any previous enforcement action and compliance record can be 
taken into account when reaching a decision.

6.2 Explanation of how decisions are made on enforcement action
In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate 
consideration will be given to, the following principles for enforcement set out 
in the ‘Macrory Review’:
 Aim to change the behaviour of the offender;
 Aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance;
 Be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 

and regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma 
that should be associated with a criminal conviction;

 Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused;
 Aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where 

appropriate; and,
 Aim to deter future non-compliance.

Where appropriate decisions about what enforcement action is to be taken 

Page 38



13

may involve consultation between:
 Investigating Officer(s)
 Senior Managers
 Solicitors appointed to act for the Council
 Portfolio Holder

The decision to prosecute a case will be taken by those with authority to do so 
in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations.

6.3 Explanation of how Decisions are Communicated to those Affected.
The Council will provide a timely explanation in writing of any rights to 
representation or appeal and information on the process involved.

7. Review of this Policy

7.1 Details of when and how the policy will be reviewed
This policy will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in relevant 
legislation, or Regulators’ Code.

8. Comments and Complaints

8.1 Details of processes for complaints and appeals
All appeals in relation to enforcement action taken should be via the statutory 
appeals process outlined in the relevant legislation.

Complaints about the conduct of officers should be made via the Council’s 
corporate complaints procedure.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place
Rob Walker, Director of Place
Councillor Christine Lawton, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 1 May 2018 

(Author: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager)

Subject Housing Allocation Policy

Purpose: To provide an update on the current review of the Housing Allocations Policy

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the contents of this report are noted.

2) That the review of the Housing Allocations Policy be completed by the end of September 
2018

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 At a meeting of the Policy Development Panel on 20 February 2018, a number of concerns 
were raised by Members in respect to the review of the Housing Allocations Policy. 

In summary the points raised were: 

 That there are a comparatively lower number of households on the housing register in 
South Holland in comparison to other Lincolnshire Authorities, 

 That that a review of the Policy had not taken place sooner rather than the reported 
conclusion of April 2019

 That the explanation provided at the Panel meeting was too broad in relation to the delay in 
delivery and that they wished the relevant officer to provide an update to the next Panel 
meeting.

1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the current position and the planned 
approach to a considered review of the Allocations Policy. Such a review is in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011 (sub-section 145-147), amending the Housing Act 1996 (Part VI), by which local 
housing authorities have the power to make their own decisions on who should or should not 
qualify to be accepted onto their housing register and be prioritised for the allocation of social 
housing, subject to ongoing statutory guidance.

1.3 A Review was originally planned to take place in 2016, three years after the introduction of the 
current Policy. This has been rescheduled because a number of factors that are considered to 
have a direct impact and need consideration. These can be summarised as follows: 

1.3.1. The impact of the Place Review that was initiated in the Summer of 2016 and 
implemented throughout 2017 with transition works into 2018. This process was 
management and resource intensive, changing the structure of the department and the way 
that the housing services are delivered in the District. This included bringing the functions 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10.



of allocations and lettings into a dedicated Available Homes team. There has been a need 
to establish ensure a period of relative stability to establish this team, it’s work processes 
and systems prior to bringing in significant change to the Allocations Policy.

1.3.2. The awareness throughout 2017 of the impending introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 that came into effect in April 2018. The Act has significantly increased 
the duty upon local authorities and potentially the burden upon housing allocation towards 
homeless applicants. This will shape the allocation of housing, the problem is determining 
the extent of the change because the demand led nature of homelessness provision. We 
believe it will prudent to give the Council a six month period to understand the initial local 
impact of the legislative change in South Holland.   

1.3.3 The impact upon staffing resources and the capacity to manage any changes to the 
Allocations Policy. There is also the appreciation of the need to introduce an IT based 
alternative because if, as a consequence of the review and subsequent change in policy, 
there is a significant increase in the number of eligible applicants joining the Housing 
Register this will impact upon capacity and resources. Currently the process is interview, 
paper application and staff input based, this will need to change to an online process in 
which people self-manage their applications.

1.3.4 A review of the Housing Allocations Policy will need to explore a potential contribution 
towards in the joint South Holland/Breckland “Open for Business” initiative and the scope to 
incorporate local lettings plans for future new developments.

1.4     Whilst all of these factors have affected the original timescale for the review of the policy, 
there is an appreciation of Members concerns and it is proposed to bring forward the date 
of the completion of the Review to the end of September 2018 predominantly to allow for 
the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act to be assessed over the six month period 
since it’s introduction and to explore the IT options available prior to implementing any 
changes that the Review determines.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To take on board Members concerns and bring forward the proposed date to complete the 
Review of the Housing Allocations Policy by the end of September 2018

2.2 Do nothing and retain the previously proposed Review completion date of April 2019

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The option of bringing forward the completion date will enable Members concerns to be 
addressed whilst enabling the impact of the first six months of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 to be considered alongside the review of policy  

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The considered review of policy that takes into account the wider impact of changes and 
ensures the operational delivery of the changes are fully appreciated and built in  

Page 42



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitutional & Legal
5.1.1 Localism Act 2011 (ss 145-147), amending the Housing Act 1996 (Part V1)

5.2 Staffing
5.2.1 Consideration upon operational impacts and resources will be considered within the 

Review

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 None

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Martin Cregg Housing Landlord Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: mcregg@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark Stinson – Shared Executive Manager Governance and Data Protection 
Officer

To: Policy Development Panel – 1 May 2018

(Author: Mark Stinson Executive Manager - Governance)

Subject Data Protection Policy 

Purpose: To consider a draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure 
and Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests.

Recommendation:

1. That the new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure and 
Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests be recommended to Cabinet for 
approval and adoption; and 

2. That the Data Protection and Data Retention Task Group continues to meet until May 
2019 in order to provide oversight of progress towards compliance with the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and to consider ancillary matters such as data retention. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Data Protection and Data Retention Task Group was established to consider the 
implications of forthcoming changes to Data Protection law, and to assist in developing a 
new Data Protection Policy, in light of issues raised by a gap-analysis commissioned by the 
Authority. 

1.2 The scope of the Task Group was:

To oversee proposed changes to the Data Protection Policy and in doing so to:

 consider the key actions and risks associated with GDPR;
 receive updates on progress towards implementation of GDPR;
 consider the implications for members as well as the authority.

1.3 The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors A R Woolf (Chairman), A 
Harrison, J D McLean and H Drury.  The Lead Officer was Mark Stinson (the Data 
Protection Officer).

1.4 The Task Group commenced its work on 11 December 2017, and concluded on 12 April 
2018.  Although set up as a Task Group, it differed from previous task groups in that it has 
not produced a final report containing recommendations.  Its main aim was to assist the 
Data Protection Officer in producing a robust Data Protection Policy – this and a number of 
associated documents are attached to this report at Appendices A to C. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 11.



1.5 The Task Group focussed largely on the draft policy documents appended to this report, 
but also provided input on a range of issues in preparation for GDPR. Examples of some 
the wider issues included training for officers and councillors, improving practices, ICT 
issues, and providing information that addresses specific member-related data protection 
issues.

1.6 Whilst the piece of work on the Policy has now concluded, the Task Group feels that there 
is merit in continuing to meet, on a less frequent basis, in order to continue to engage with 
on-going work towards GDPR compliance.

2 OPTIONS

2.1 The Panel may:

 Approve the Task Group’s report for consideration by the Cabinet and disband the Task 
Group; or

 Approve the Task Group’s report for consideration by the Cabinet and maintain the 
Task Group

 Request that alterations be made/further consideration be given to the report prior to its 
presentation to the Cabinet; or

 Do nothing.

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Task Group was set up to oversee changes to the Council’s Data Protection Policy. 
Approval will ensure that the Council has a fit-for-purpose Policy to assist in compliance 
with the forthcoming General Data Protection Regulation.

4 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The introduction of changes under the forthcoming General Data Protection Regulation  
places a duty on all holders of data to deal with it in a lawful way.  By ensuring that there is 
a robust Data Protection Policy in place, the Authority will be well positioned to adhere to 
these new requirements.

5 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1 GDPR compliance is a legal requirement. Constitutionally, final approval of the Policy sits 
with the Cabinet.

5.2 Contracts

Page 46



5.2.1 There are no direct implications arising out of the Policy, but GDPR does place obligation 
on Data Controllers to impose GDPR obligations on contractors.

5.3 Financial

5.3.1 Adoption of the Policy does not of itself have any financial implications. Clearly, compliance 
with GDPR does have financial implications. 

5.4 Risk Management

5.4.1 Having a robust Policy and associated procedures helps the Council to evidence 
compliance (the ‘accountability principle’ under GDPR). This, together with proper use of 
the policy and procedures, will ensure that our data practices improve and our level of risk 
reduces.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards/communities are affected.

7 ACRONYMS

7.1 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
DPO – Data Protection Officer
ICO – Information Commissioner’s Office

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Mark Stinson Executive Manager - Governance
Telephone Number 01775 764612
Email: mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Data Protection Policy (draft)
Appendix B Data Security Breach Procedure
Appendix C Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 1

APPENDIX A

 

Data Protection Policy

Page 49



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 2

Contents

1.  INTERPRETATION..............................................................................................................................2

1.1  DEFINITIONS:................................................................................................................................2

2.  INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................................................4

3.  SCOPE.................................................................................................................................................4

4.  PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES ................................................................................5

5.  LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................6

5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS.....................................................................................................6

5.2  CONSENT ......................................................................................................................................7

5.3  TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS).....................................................................7

6.  PURPOSE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................7

7.  DATA MINIMISATION..........................................................................................................................8

8.  ACCURACY .........................................................................................................................................8

9.  STORAGE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................8

10.  SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY ...........................................................................9

10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA................................................................................................9

10.2  REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH..............................................................................9

11.  TRANSFER LIMITATION.................................................................................................................10

12.  DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS ...............................................................................10

13.  ACCOUNTABILITY ..........................................................................................................................11

13.2  RECORD KEEPING ...................................................................................................................12

13.3  TRAINING AND AUDIT ..............................................................................................................12

13.4  PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) ...............12

13.5  AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISION- 
MAKING ..............................................................................................................................................13

13.6  DIRECT MARKETING................................................................................................................14

13.7  SHARING PERSONAL DATA ....................................................................................................14

14.  CHANGES TO THIS POLICY ..........................................................................................................15

Page 50



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 3

[South Holland] [Breckland] District Council is committed to protecting the rights and privacy of all people 
with regard to the processing of personal data.  During the course of our activities we will collect, store 
and process personal information about our staff, customers, suppliers and other third parties.  We 
recognise the need to treat personal data in an appropriate and lawful manner and all processing will be 
conducted in accordance with this policy, the Data Protection Act 1998, the General Data Protection 
Regulation and any subsequent or amending legislation.

This Policy applies to all employees and members of [South Holland] [Breckland] District Council.  Any 
breach of this policy will be taken seriously and serious or persistent Personal Data Breaches may be 
considered to be a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct or result in disciplinary action [links].  As a 
matter of good practice, other agencies and individuals working with the Council, who have access to 
personal information, will be expected to read and comply with this Policy.

This Policy is open to all internal and external stakeholders and is available to view on the Council’s 
website: [link]

Users of this policy are encouraged to view further guidance that has been issued by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (“ICO”). Guidance is available in many discrete areas (such as CCTV, data 
sharing and subject access rights). These guidance notes can be accessed from the following webpage: 
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guidance-index/data-protection-and-privacy-and-electronic-
communications/

The ICO also has a guide specifically about the new General Data Protection Regulation which can be 
found here:  https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Further resources can also be found on the Council’s Intranet at [SHDC: 
https://intranet.sholland.gov.uk/GDPR] [BDC: http://www.breckland.gov.uk/intranet/GDPR]

 

1.  INTERPRETATION  
 
1.1  DEFINITIONS:  
 

Automated Decision-Making (ADM):  when a decision is made which is based solely on Automated 
Processing (including profiling) which produces legal effects or significantly affects an individual. The 
GDPR prohibits Automated Decision-Making (unless certain conditions are met) but not Automated 
Processing.

Automated Processing:  any form of automated processing of Personal Data consisting of the use of 
Personal Data to evaluate certain personal aspects relating to an individual, in particular to analyse or 
predict aspects concerning that individual’s performance at work, economic situation, health, personal 
preferences, interests, reliability, behaviour, location or movements. Profiling is an example of 
Automated Processing.

Council name:  [South Holland] [Breckland] District Council.

Page 51

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guidance-index/data-protection-and-privacy-and-electronic-communications/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guidance-index/data-protection-and-privacy-and-electronic-communications/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://intranet.sholland.gov.uk/GDPR
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/intranet/GDPR


© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 4

Council Personnel:  all employees, contractors, agency workers, consultants, elected members and 
others.

Consent: agreement which must be freely given, specific, informed and be an unambiguous indication 
of the Data Subject’s wishes by which they, by a statement or by a clear positive action, signify 
agreement to the Processing of Personal Data relating to them.

Data Controller:  the person or organisation that determines when, why and how to process Personal 
Data. It is responsible for establishing practices and policies in line with the GDPR. We are the Data 
Controller of all Personal Data relating to our Council Personnel and Personal Data used in our business 
for our own purposes.

Data Subject:  a living, identified or identifiable individual about whom we hold Personal Data. Data 
Subjects may be nationals or residents of any country and may have legal rights regarding their 
Personal Data.

Data Privacy Impact Assessment (DPIA):  tools and assessments used to identify and reduce risks of 
a data processing activity. DPIA can be carried out as part of Privacy by Design and should be 
conducted for all major system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data.

Data Protection Officer (DPO):  the person required to be appointed in specific circumstances under 
the GDPR. The Council’s DPO is the person for the time being identified as such in the Council’s 
Constitution.

EEA:  the 28 countries in the EU, and Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

Explicit Consent:  consent which requires a very clear and specific statement (that is, not just action).

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR):  the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 
2016/679). Personal Data is subject to the legal safeguards specified in the GDPR.

Personal Data:  any information identifying a Data Subject or information relating to a Data Subject that 
we can identify (directly or indirectly) from that data alone or in combination with other identifiers we 
possess or can reasonably access. Personal Data includes Sensitive Personal Data and 
Pseudonymised Personal Data but excludes anonymous data or data that has had the identity of an 
individual permanently removed. Personal data can be factual (for example, a name, email address, 
location or date of birth) or an opinion about that person’s actions or behaviour. 

Personal Data Breach:  any act or omission that compromises the security, confidentiality, integrity or 
availability of Personal Data or the physical, technical, administrative or organisational safeguards that 
we or our third-party service providers put in place to protect it. The loss, or unauthorised access, 
disclosure or acquisition, of Personal Data is a Personal Data Breach.

Privacy by Design:  implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures in an effective 
manner to ensure compliance with the GDPR.

Page 52



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 5

Privacy Guidelines:  the Council’s privacy/GDPR related guidelines provided to assist in interpreting 
and implementing this Policy and Related Policies, available here: 
https://intranet.sholland.gov.uk/GDPR] [BDC: http://www.breckland.gov.uk/intranet/GDPR].

Privacy Notices (also referred to as Fair Processing Notices) or Privacy Policies: separate notices 
setting out information that may be provided to Data Subjects when the Council collects information 
about them. These notices may take the form of general privacy statements applicable to a specific 
group of individuals (for example, employee privacy notices or the website privacy policy) or they may be 
stand-alone, one time privacy statements covering Processing related to a specific purpose.

Processing or Process:  any activity that involves the use of Personal Data. It includes obtaining, 
recording or holding the data, or carrying out any operation or set of operations on the data including 
organising, amending, retrieving, using, disclosing, erasing or destroying it. Processing also includes 
transmitting or transferring Personal Data to third parties.

Pseudonymisation or Pseudonymised:  replacing information that directly or indirectly identifies an 
individual with one or more artificial identifiers or pseudonyms so that the person, to whom the data 
relates, cannot be identified without the use of additional information which is meant to be kept 
separately and secure.

Related Policies:  the Council’s policies, operating procedures or processes related to this Policy and 
designed to protect Personal Data, available here: [Links e.g. IT Security, email, etc.]

Sensitive Personal Data:  information revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or 
similar beliefs, trade union membership, physical or mental health conditions, sexual life, sexual 
orientation, biometric or genetic data, and Personal Data relating to criminal offences and convictions. 
 

2.  INTRODUCTION  
 

This Policy sets out how [South Holland] [Breckland] District Council (”we”, “our”, “us”, “the Council”) 
handle the Personal Data of our customers, suppliers, elected members, employees, workers and 
other third parties.
 
This Policy applies to all Personal Data we Process regardless of the media on which that data is 
stored or whether it relates to past or present elected members, employees, workers, customers, 
clients or supplier contacts, website users or any other Data Subject.
 
This Policy applies to all Council Personnel (”you”, “your”). You must read, understand and comply 
with this Policy when Processing Personal Data on our behalf and attend training on its requirements. 
This Policy sets out what we expect from you in order for the Council to comply with applicable law. 
Your compliance with this Policy is mandatory. Related Policies and Privacy Guidelines are available 
to help you interpret and act in accordance with this Policy. You must also comply with all such 
Related Policies and Privacy Guidelines. 
 

3.  SCOPE  
 

We recognise that the correct and lawful treatment of Personal Data will maintain confidence in the 

Page 53

https://intranet.sholland.gov.uk/GDPR
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/intranet/GDPR


© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 6

organisation and will provide for successful business operations. Protecting the confidentiality and 
integrity of Personal Data is a critical responsibility that we take seriously at all times. The Council is 
exposed to potential fines of up to EUR20 million (approximately £18 million) or 4% of total annual 
turnover, whichever is higher and depending on the breach, for failure to comply with the provisions of 
the GDPR.
 
All managers and elected members are responsible for ensuring that all Council Personnel comply 
with this Policy and need to implement appropriate practices, processes, controls and training to 
ensure such compliance.
 
The DPO is responsible for overseeing this Policy and, as applicable, developing Related Policies 
and Privacy Guidelines.
 
Please contact the DPO with any questions about the operation of this Policy or the GDPR or if you 
have any concerns that this Policy is not being or has not been followed. In particular, you must 
always contact the DPO in the following circumstances:

 
 

(a)  if you are unsure of the lawful basis which you are relying on to process Personal Data 
(including the legitimate interests used by the Council) (see Section [5.1] below);

 
(b)  if you need to rely on Consent and/or need to capture Explicit Consent (see Section [5.2] 

below);
 
(c)  if you need to draft Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices and are unsure of the 

necessary content (see Section [5.3] below);
 
(d)  if you are unsure about the retention period for the Personal Data being Processed (see 

Section [9] below);
 
(e)  if you are unsure about what security or other measures you need to implement to protect 

Personal Data (see Section [10.1] below);
 
(f)  if there has been a Personal Data Breach (Section [10.2] below);
 
(g)  if you are unsure on what basis to transfer Personal Data outside the EEA (see Section [11] 

below);
 
(h)  if you need any assistance dealing with any rights invoked by a Data Subject (see Section 

[12]);
 
(i)  whenever you are engaging in a significant new, or change in, Processing activity which is 

likely to require a DPIA (see Section [13.4] below) or plan to use Personal Data for purposes 
other than what it was collected for;

 
(j)  If you plan to undertake any activities involving Automated Processing including profiling or 

Automated Decision-Making (see Section [13.5] below);
 
(k)  If you need help complying with applicable law when carrying out direct marketing activities 

(see Section [13.6] below); or
 
(l)  if you need help with any contracts or other areas in relation to sharing Personal Data with third 

Page 54



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 7

parties (including our vendors) (see Section [13.7] below).
 

4.  PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES  
 

We adhere to the principles relating to Processing of Personal Data set out in the GDPR which 
require Personal Data to be:

 
(a)  Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner (Lawfulness, Fairness and 

Transparency).
 
(b)  Collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes (Purpose Limitation).
 
(c)  Adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is 

Processed (Data Minimisation).
 
(d)  Accurate and where necessary kept up to date (Accuracy).
 
(e)  Not kept in a form which permits identification of Data Subjects for longer than is necessary 

for the purposes for which the data is Processed (Storage Limitation).
 
(f)  Processed in a manner that ensures its security using appropriate technical and 

organisational measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful Processing and against 
accidental loss, destruction or damage (Security, Integrity and Confidentiality).

 
(g)  Not transferred to another country without appropriate safeguards being in place (Transfer 

Limitation).
 
(h)  Made available to Data Subjects and Data Subjects allowed to exercise certain rights in 

relation to their Personal Data (Data Subject’s Rights and Requests).
 

We are responsible for and must be able to demonstrate compliance with the data protection 
principles listed above (Accountability).

 

5.  LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY  
 
5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS  
 

Personal Data must be Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the Data 
Subject.
 
You may only collect, Process and share Personal Data fairly and lawfully and for specified purposes. 
The GDPR restricts our actions regarding Personal Data to specified lawful purposes. These 
restrictions are not intended to prevent Processing, but ensure that we Process Personal Data fairly 
and without adversely affecting the Data Subject.
 
The GDPR allows Processing for specific purposes, some of which are set out below:

 
(a)  the Data Subject has given his or her Consent;
 

Page 55



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 8

(b)  the Processing is necessary for the performance of a contract with the Data Subject;
 
(c)  to meet our legal obligations;
 
(d)  to protect the Data Subject’s vital interests;
 
(e)   necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of 

official authority;
 

You must identify and document the legal ground being relied on for each Processing activity. It is 
very important that you do not seek to rely on consent where you have another lawful purpose (many 
of our services are, for example, tasks carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official 
authority).

 
    5.2  CONSENT  
 

A Data Controller must only process Personal Data on the basis of one or more of the lawful bases 
set out in the GDPR, which include Consent.
 
A Data Subject consents to Processing of their Personal Data if they indicate agreement clearly either 
by a statement or positive action to the Processing. Consent requires affirmative action so silence, 
pre-ticked boxes or inactivity are unlikely to be sufficient. If Consent is given in a document which 
deals with other matters, then the Consent must be kept separate from those other matters.
 
Data Subjects must be easily able to withdraw Consent to Processing at any time and withdrawal 
must be promptly honoured. Consent may need to be refreshed if you intend to Process Personal 
Data for a different and incompatible purpose which was not disclosed when the Data Subject first 
consented.
 
Unless we can rely on another legal basis of Processing, Explicit Consent is usually required for 
Processing Sensitive Personal Data, for Automated Decision-Making and for cross border data 
transfers. Usually we will be relying on another legal basis (and not require Explicit Consent) to 
Process most types of Sensitive Data. Where Explicit Consent is required, you must issue a Fair 
Processing Notice to the Data Subject to capture Explicit Consent.
 
You will need to evidence Consent captured and keep records of all Consents so that the Council can 
demonstrate compliance with Consent requirements.

 
    5.3  TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS)  
 

The GDPR requires Data Controllers to provide detailed, specific information to Data Subjects 
depending on whether the information was collected directly from Data Subjects or from elsewhere. 
Such information must be provided through appropriate Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices 
which must be concise, transparent, intelligible, easily accessible, and in clear and plain language so 
that a Data Subject can easily understand them.
 
Whenever we collect Personal Data directly from Data Subjects, including for human resources or 
employment purposes, we must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the 
GDPR including the identity of the Data Controller and DPO, how and why we will use, Process, 
disclose, protect and retain that Personal Data through a Fair Processing Notice which must be 
presented when the Data Subject first provides the Personal Data..
 

Page 56



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 9

When Personal Data is collected indirectly (for example, from a third party or publically available 
source), you must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the GDPR as soon as 
possible after collecting/receiving the data. You must also check that the Personal Data was collected 
by the third party in accordance with the GDPR and on a basis which contemplates our proposed 
Processing of that Personal Data.
 
You should always check the Intranet (see earlier hyperlinks) for any guidelines on drafting Privacy 
Notices/Fair Processing Notices.

 

6.  PURPOSE LIMITATION  
 

Personal Data must be collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes. It must not be 
further Processed in any manner incompatible with those purposes.
 
You cannot use Personal Data for new, different or incompatible purposes from that disclosed when 
it was first obtained unless you have informed the Data Subject of the new purposes and they have 
Consented where necessary.

 

7.  DATA MINIMISATION  
 

Personal Data must be adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the 
purposes for which it is Processed.
 
You may only Process Personal Data when performing your job duties (or in the case of an elected 
member, your ward duties or duties as an elected member generally) require it. You cannot Process 
Personal Data for any reason unrelated to your job/member duties.
 
You may only collect Personal Data that you require for your job/member duties: do not collect 
excessive data. Ensure any Personal Data collected is adequate and relevant for the intended 
purposes.
 
You must ensure that when Personal Data is no longer needed for specified purposes, it is deleted 
or anonymised in accordance with the Council’s data retention guidelines.

 

8.  ACCURACY  
 

Personal Data must be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date. It must be corrected or 
deleted without delay when inaccurate.
 
You will ensure that the Personal Data we use and hold is accurate, complete, kept up to date and 
relevant to the purpose for which we collected it. You must check the accuracy of any Personal Data 
at the point of collection and at regular intervals afterwards. You must take all reasonable steps to 
destroy or amend inaccurate or out-of-date Personal Data.

 

9.  STORAGE LIMITATION  
 

Personal Data must not be kept in an identifiable form for longer than is necessary for the purposes 
for which the data is processed.

Page 57



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 10

 
You must not keep Personal Data in a form which permits the identification of the Data Subject for 
longer than needed for the legitimate business purpose or purposes for which we originally collected 
it including for the purpose of satisfying any legal, accounting or reporting requirements.
 
The Council will maintain retention policies and procedures to ensure Personal Data is deleted after 
a reasonable time for the purposes for which it was being held, unless a law requires such data to 
be kept for a minimum time. You must comply with the Council’s guidelines on Data Retention which 
can be found in our Information Assets Register at the Intranet page referred to earlier in this policy.
 
You will take all reasonable steps to destroy or erase from our systems all Personal Data that we no 
longer require in accordance with all the Council’s applicable records retention schedules and 
policies. This includes requiring third parties to delete such data where applicable.
 
You will ensure Data Subjects are informed of the period for which data is stored and how that 
period is determined in any applicable Privacy Notice or Fair Processing Notice.

 

10.  SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY  
 
10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA  
 

Personal Data must be secured by appropriate technical and organisational measures against 
unauthorised or unlawful Processing, and against accidental loss, destruction or damage.
 
We will develop, implement and maintain safeguards appropriate to our size, scope and business, 
our available resources, the amount of Personal Data that we own or maintain on behalf of others 
and identified risks (including use of encryption and Pseudonymisation where applicable). We will 
regularly evaluate and test the effectiveness of those safeguards to ensure security of our 
Processing of Personal Data. You are responsible for protecting the Personal Data we hold. You 
must implement reasonable and appropriate security measures against unlawful or unauthorised 
Processing of Personal Data and against the accidental loss of, or damage to, Personal Data. You 
must exercise particular care in protecting Sensitive Personal Data from loss and unauthorised 
access, use or disclosure.
 
You must follow all procedures and technologies we put in place to maintain the security of all 
Personal Data from the point of collection to the point of destruction. You may only transfer 
Personal Data to third-party service providers who agree to comply with the required policies and 
procedures and who agree to put adequate measures in place, as requested.
 
You must maintain data security by protecting the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the 
Personal Data, defined as follows:

 
(a)  Confidentiality means that only people who have a need to know and are authorised to use 

the Personal Data can access it.
 
(b)  Integrity means that Personal Data is accurate and suitable for the purpose for which it is 

processed.
 
(c)  Availability means that authorised users are able to access the Personal Data when they 

need it for authorised purposes.
 

Page 58



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 11

You must comply with and not attempt to circumvent the administrative, physical and technical 
safeguards we implement and maintain in accordance with the GDPR and relevant standards to 
protect Personal Data.

 
 

10.2  REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH  
 

The GDPR requires Data Controllers to notify any Personal Data Breach to the applicable 
regulator (the Information Commissioner) and, in certain instances, the Data Subject.
 
We have put in place procedures to deal with any suspected Personal Data Breach and will notify 
Data Subjects or any applicable regulator where we are legally required to do so.
 
If you know or suspect that a Personal Data Breach has occurred, do not attempt to investigate the 
matter yourself. Immediately contact the DPO or in his/her absence the Legal Team. You should 
preserve all evidence relating to the potential Personal Data Breach.

The Council has a Personal Data Breach protocol which can be found here: [Link]
 
 

11.  TRANSFER LIMITATION  
 

The GDPR restricts data transfers to countries outside the EEA in order to ensure that the level of 
data protection afforded to individuals by the GDPR is not undermined. You transfer Personal 
Data originating in one country across borders when you transmit, send, view or access that data 
in or to a different country.
 
You may only transfer Personal Data outside the EEA if one of the following conditions applies:

 
(a)  the European Commission has issued a decision confirming that the country to which we 

transfer the Personal Data ensures an adequate level of protection for the Data Subjects’ 
rights and freedoms. Currently these countries are Andorra, Argentina, Canada, Faeroe 
Islands, Guernsey, Israel, Isle of Man, Jersey, New Zealand, Switzerland and Uruguay but 
you can find updates at the following link: EU website;

  
(b)  appropriate safeguards are in place such as binding corporate rules (BCR), standard 

contractual clauses approved by the European Commission, an approved code of conduct 
or a certification mechanism;

 
(c)  the Data Subject has provided Explicit Consent to the proposed transfer after being 

informed of any potential risks; or
 
(d)  the transfer is necessary for one of the other reasons set out in the GDPR including the 

performance of a contract between us and the Data Subject, reasons of public interest, to 
establish, exercise or defend legal claims or to protect the vital interests of the Data Subject 
where the Data Subject is physically or legally incapable of giving Consent.

 

Page 59

http://ec.europa.eu/justice/data-protection/international-transfers/adequacy/index_en.htm


© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 12

12.  DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS  
 

Data Subjects have rights when it comes to how we handle their Personal Data. These include 
rights to:

 
(a)  withdraw Consent to Processing at any time;
 
(b)  receive certain information about the Data Controller’s Processing activities;
 
(c)  request access to their Personal Data that we hold;
 
(d)  prevent our use of their Personal Data for direct marketing purposes;
 
(e)  ask us to erase Personal Data if it is no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for 

which it was collected or Processed or to rectify inaccurate data or to complete incomplete 
data;

 
(f)  restrict Processing in specific circumstances;
 
(g)  challenge Processing which has been justified on the basis of the public interest;
 
(h)  request a copy of an agreement under which Personal Data is transferred outside of the 

EEA;
 
(i)  object to decisions based solely on Automated Processing, including profiling (ADM);
 
(j)  prevent Processing that is likely to cause damage or distress to the Data Subject or anyone 

else;
 
(k)  be notified of a Personal Data Breach which is likely to result in high risk to their rights and 

freedoms;
 
(l)  make a complaint to the supervisory authority; and
 
(m)  in limited circumstances, receive or ask for their Personal Data to be transferred to a third 

party in a structured, commonly used and machine readable format.
 

You must verify the identity of an individual requesting data under any of the rights listed above (do 
not allow third parties to persuade you into disclosing Personal Data without proper authorisation). 
Full procedures can be found here [Link]
 
You must immediately forward any Data Subject request you receive to the Council’s Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Team.

 

13.  ACCOUNTABILITY  
 
13.1The Data Controller (in most cases the Council) must implement appropriate technical and 

organisational measures in an effective manner, to ensure compliance with data protection 
principles. The Data Controller is responsible for, and must be able to demonstrate, compliance with 
the data protection principles.

Page 60



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 13

 
The Council must have adequate resources and controls in place to ensure and to document GDPR 
compliance including:

 
(a)  appointing a suitably qualified DPO and an officer accountable for data privacy;
 
(b)  implementing Privacy by Design when Processing Personal Data and completing DPIAs 

where Processing presents a high risk to rights and freedoms of Data Subjects;
 
(c)  integrating data protection into internal documents including this Policy, Related Policies, 

Privacy Guidelines, Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices;
 
(d)  regularly training Council Personnel on the GDPR, this Policy, Related Policies and Privacy 

Guidelines and data protection matters including, for example, Data Subject’s rights, 
Consent, legal basis, DPIA and Personal Data Breaches. The Council must maintain a 
record of training attendance by Council Personnel; and

 
(e)  regularly testing the privacy measures implemented and conducting periodic reviews and 

audits to assess compliance, including using results of testing to demonstrate compliance 
improvement effort.

 
13.2  RECORD KEEPING  
 

The GDPR requires us to keep full and accurate records of all our data Processing activities.
 
You must keep and maintain accurate corporate records reflecting our Processing including 
records of Data Subjects’ Consents and procedures for obtaining Consents.
 
These records should include, at a minimum, the name and contact details of the Data Controller 
and the DPO, clear descriptions of the Personal Data types, Data Subject types, Processing 
activities, Processing purposes, third-party recipients of the Personal Data, Personal Data storage 
locations, Personal Data transfers, the Personal Data’s retention period and a description of the 
security measures in place.

 
13.3  TRAINING AND AUDIT  
 

We are required to ensure that all Council Personnel have undergone adequate training to enable 
them to comply with data privacy laws. We must also regularly test our systems and processes to 
assess compliance.
 
You must undergo all mandatory data privacy related training and ensure your team undergo 
similar mandatory training.
 
You must regularly review all the systems and processes under your control to ensure they comply 
with this Policy and check that adequate governance controls and resources are in place to ensure 
proper use and protection of Personal Data.

 
13.4  PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA)  
 

We are required to implement Privacy by Design measures when Processing Personal Data by 
implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures (like Pseudonymisation) in an 
effective manner, to ensure compliance with data privacy principles.

Page 61



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 14

 
You must assess what Privacy by Design measures can be implemented on all 
programs/systems/processes that Process Personal Data by taking into account the following:

 
(a)  the state of the art;
 
(b)  the cost of implementation;
 
(c)  the nature, scope, context and purposes of Processing; and
 
(d)  the risks of varying likelihood and severity for rights and freedoms of Data Subjects posed 

by the Processing.
 

Data controllers must also conduct DPIAs in respect to high risk Processing.
 
You should conduct a DPIA (and discuss your findings with the DPO) when implementing major 
system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data including:

 
(e)  use of new technologies (programs, systems or processes), or changing technologies 

(programs, systems or processes);
 
(f)  Automated Processing including profiling and ADM;
 
(g)  large scale Processing of Sensitive Data; and
 
(h)  large scale, systematic monitoring of a publicly accessible area.
 

A DPIA must include:
 
(i)  a description of the Processing and its purposes;
 
(j)  an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the Processing in relation to its 

purpose;
 
(k)  an assessment of the risk to individuals; and
 
(l)  the risk mitigation measures in place and demonstration of compliance.
 
 

13.5  AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISION- 
MAKING  
 

Generally, ADM is prohibited when a decision has a legal or similar significant effect on an 
individual unless:

 
(a)  a Data Subject has Explicitly Consented;
 
(b)  the Processing is authorised by law; or
 
(c)  the Processing is necessary for the performance of or entering into a contract.
 

If certain types of Sensitive Data are being processed, then grounds (b) or (c) will not be allowed 

Page 62



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 15

but such Sensitive Data can be Processed where it is necessary (unless less intrusive means can 
be used) for substantial public interest like fraud prevention.
 
If a decision is to be based solely on Automated Processing (including profiling), then Data 
Subjects must be informed when you first communicate with them of their right to object. This right 
must be explicitly brought to their attention and presented clearly and separately from other 
information. Further, suitable measures must be put in place to safeguard the Data Subject’s rights 
and freedoms and legitimate interests.
 
We must also inform the Data Subject of the logic involved in the decision making or profiling, the 
significance and envisaged consequences and give the Data Subject the right to request human 
intervention, express their point of view or challenge the decision.
 
A DPIA must be carried out before any Automated Processing (including profiling) or ADM 
activities are undertaken.
 

 
13.6  DIRECT MARKETING  
 

We are subject to certain rules and privacy laws when marketing to our customers.
 
For example, a Data Subject’s prior consent is required for electronic direct marketing (for 
example, by email, text or automated calls). The limited exception for existing customers known as 
“soft opt in” allows organisations to send marketing texts or emails if they have obtained contact 
details in the course of a sale to that person, they are marketing similar products or services, and 
they gave the person an opportunity to opt out of marketing when first collecting the details and in 
every subsequent message.
 
The right to object to direct marketing must be explicitly offered to the Data Subject in an intelligible 
manner so that it is clearly distinguishable from other information.
 
A Data Subject’s objection to direct marketing must be promptly honoured. If a customer opts out 
at any time, their details should be suppressed as soon as possible. Suppression involves 
retaining just enough information to ensure that marketing preferences are respected in the future.
 
You must comply with any Council guidelines on direct marketing to customers.

 
13.7  SHARING PERSONAL DATA  
 

Generally we are not allowed to share Personal Data with third parties unless certain safeguards 
and contractual arrangements have been put in place.
 
You may only share the Personal Data internally if the recipient has a job-related need to know the 
information.
 
You may only share the Personal Data we hold with third parties, such as our service providers if:

 
(a)  they have a need to know the information for the purposes of providing the contracted 

services;

Page 63



© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 16

 
(b)  sharing the Personal Data complies with the Privacy Notice provided to the Data Subject 

and, if required, the Data Subject’s Consent has been obtained;
 
(c)  the third party has agreed to comply with the required data security standards, policies and 

procedures and put adequate security measures in place;
 
(d)  the transfer complies with any applicable cross border transfer restrictions; and
 
(e)  a fully executed written contract that contains GDPR approved third party clauses has been 

obtained.

14.  CHANGES TO THIS POLICY  
 

We reserve the right to change this Policy at any time without notice to you so please check back 
regularly to obtain the latest copy of this Policy.
 
This Policy does not override any applicable national data privacy laws and regulations. 

 

Page 64



APPENDIX B

Data Security Breach Procedure

Introduction

All information security incidents must be reported to the Legal Team. This enables an 
internal investigation, with a view to determining what action should be taken and 
whether the incident should be reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office. 

Even if information has not been lost, but the incident may be classed as a ‘near 
miss’ this should be reported to your manager. An example here might be a 
member of staff taking sensitive information home without authority, but returning it 
safely the next day.

Note: if we need to self-report to the ICO this must be done within 72 hours

Actions Responsibilities and Duties

1
Employee All identified incidents must be reported to the Council’s Legal Team as 

soon as they are detected. The Legal Team will notify the DPO

2
CIP Team

If the incident is identified via a complaint, the CIP Team will appoint 
an investigating officer from the service area where the incident has 
originated, and the matter will managed under the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure

3
DPO

If the incident has not been reported through the Complaints process, 
the DPO will appoint a senior officer within the service area to 
investigate the incident and establish why it happened, whether or not 
it constitutes a breach and what remedial action is necessary. The 
investigating officer will keep the Legal Team regularly updated on 
progress.

4
Investigating 

Officer

The investigating officer will take professional advice as required from 
the DPO, CIP Team, Legal Services, and HR.

5
Employee

Investigating 
Officer

Establish the following and advise the Legal Team as soon as possible:

 The extent of the breach
 The amount of information involved
 The sensitivity of information involved
 A timeline of dates and times concerning the incident
 The potential for loss or damage to individuals, the Council or any 

other body
 What measures need to be taken and how quickly (for example: can 

the information be recovered? Do any individuals or organisations 
need to be notified? Do the Police need to be notified?)

Page 65



Actions Responsibilities and Duties

6
Investigating  

Officer

Unless considered to be a very minor breach of security, carry out and 
document a risk assessment. Depending upon the outcome of the 
risk assessment, use the letter template in Annex 1 to inform those 
affected by the breach.

7
Investigating 

Officer
Report the loss of data to the police as required, and notify the 
Council’s DPO whenever the police are involved.

8
DPO

Consider convening a meeting as appropriate involving people who 
are likely to have an active role in remedying the breach or dealing 
with any of the outside parties involved. Maintain an action plan 
tasking individuals with assisting the investigation as necessary.

9
Investigating 

Officer
Consider whether written statements may be needed. If so, first consult 
with the Legal Team and the HR Team if it is considered that 
Disciplinary action may be required at some point.

10
Investigating 

Officer
If information has been sent to the wrong address, retrieve the 
information as soon as possible, using the letter template in Annex 1 
or via a home visit as appropriate.

11
Investigating 

Officer

Always consider involving the Council’s Communications team early 
on and keeping them updated.

12
Investigating 

Officer

As part of the process of identifying the cause of the breach, try to 
consider measures that can be put in place to eliminate or reduce the 
chances of a reoccurrence. Where these are obvious, put them in 
place straight away; where these would need further discussion, report 
them to the DPO.

13
Investigating 

Officer

Where the incident has been treated as a complaint, the investigating 
officer will draft a response for the complainant and have it reviewed 
by the Legal Team and the DPO. The response will be sent to the 
complainant by the CIP Team.

Page 66



ANNEX 1 – letter to individual whose data has been breached

Actions Responsibilities and Duties

14

Investigating 
Officer

Provide a final written briefing to the DPO. If the DPO concludes that 
the breach should be reported to the Information Commissioner, 
complete a formal breach notification form and send it to the Legal 
Team and the DPO for review

15
Legal team/ 

DPO

Submit ICO Breach notification form (if required) and address any 
outstanding legal issues (e.g. injunction proceedings).

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/report-a-breach/personal-data-
breach/

Notify the relevant portfolio holder(s) where a breach notification is 
submitted.

Further guidance 
available (links to 
useful documents)

 https://ico.org.uk/media/for-
organisations/documents/1536/breach_reporting.pdf

Related policies & 
procedures

Disciplinary Procedure 
Data Protection Policy

Golden rules for reporting and investigating data breaches

Remember:

 Do not keep a breach to yourself, even if you feel there has been no harm 
arising.

 Do not seek to apportion blame – the main object of this procedure is to 
address the breach and improve our processes.

 This procedure is not confined to breaches involving personal data only. Any 
uncontrolled information loss is important.

 Be honest with the facts.
 Be thorough in investigating or assisting with any investigation.

Contact details

Mark Stinson
Data Protection Officer 
Tel: 07899 061277

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy
Legal Services Manager
Tel: 07970 248422

Letter to notify that personal data has been breached

Page 67

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/report-a-breach/personal-data-breach/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/report-a-breach/personal-data-breach/
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1536/breach_reporting.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1536/breach_reporting.pdf


ANNEX 1 – letter to individual whose data has been breached
I write to you to bring to your attention a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998 that 

Dear ____________

[provide a short description of the breach] which unfortunately involves your 
personal data.

Please be assured that we are taking this matter very seriously and are investigating 
the matter / have concluded our investigation into it.

The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.

<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>

<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this letter, please get in touch with 
me.

I would again like to apologise for the incident of which you may have, until now, 

been unaware. 

Yours sincerely,

Page 68



ANNEX 2 – letter to person who has received personal data in error

Letter to retrieve information in response to notification by service user

[refer to any letter or telephone call from them telling us about having received the 
information in error – thanking them as appropriate].

[otherwise, explain the incident and that we believe that they have received 
information in error].

As you would imagine we have taken this matter very seriously and have concluded 
our investigation into it.

The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.

Could you please return the document(s) to me at the address below by <date 10 
days from now>.

<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>

<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>

I hope this letter has allayed your fears as to the integrity of your own information and 
documents and can I again thank you for bringing this case to our attention enabling 
us to take appropriate action.

Yours sincerely,

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 1

APPENDIX C
These procedures need to be read in conjunction with the Council’s Data Protection Policy and any guidance that 
may be issued from time to time by the Information Commissioner’s Office.

The Council’s Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) Team will co-ordinate all requests under these 
procedures.

Where requests are made for erasure or restriction of personal data, not to be subject to automated decision-
making, or where an objection to processing is received, the officer dealing with the request/objection must 
consult with the Legal Team before processing the request. This is extremely important particularly as certain 
personal data must not be erased and must continue to be processed where, for example, the Council needs to 
process the data in order to perform a statutory duty – such as collecting Council Tax.
 

1.  ABOUT THESE PROCEDURES  
 
    1.1  Data subjects have certain rights in respect of their personal data. When we process data subjects’ 

personal data, we shall respect those rights. These procedures provide a framework for responding to 
requests to exercise those rights. It is our policy to ensure that requests by data subjects covered by 
these procedures to exercise their rights in respect of their personal data are handled in accordance with 
applicable law.

 
    1.2  For the purposes of these procedures, “personal data” means any information relating to an identified or 

identifiable data subject. An identifiable data subject is anyone who can be identified, directly or indirectly, 
by reference to an identifier, such as a name, identification number or online identifier. “Processing” 
means any operation or set of operations that is performed on personal data, such as collection, use, 
storage, dissemination and destruction.

 
    1.3  These procedures only apply to data subjects whose personal data we process.
 

2.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO ACCESS PERSONAL DATA  
 
    2.1  Data subjects have the right to request access to their personal data processed by us. Such requests are 

called Subject Access Requests (SARs). When a data subject makes an SAR we shall take the following 
steps:

 
(a)  log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 

for responding to the request is met) – all SARs must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and 
co-ordination;

 
(b)  confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. For example, we may 

request additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm 
their identity;

 
(c)  search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 

subject of the request may be held; and
 
(d)  confirm to the data subject whether or not personal data of the data subject making the SAR are 

being processed.
 

2.2  If personal data of the data subject are being processed, we shall provide the data subject with the 
following information in a concise, transparent, intelligible and easily accessible form, using clear and 
plain language, in writing or by other (including electronic) means:

Page 71



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 2

 
(a)  the purposes of the processing;
 
(b)  the categories of personal data concerned (for example, contact details, bank account information 

and details of sales activity);
 
(c)  the recipients or categories of recipient to whom the personal data have been or will be disclosed, in 

particular recipients overseas (for example, US-based service providers);
 
(d)  where possible, the envisaged period for which the personal data will be stored, or, if not possible, 

the criteria used to determine that period;
 
(e)  the existence of the right to request rectification or erasure of personal data or restriction of 

processing of personal data or to object to such processing;
 
(f)  the right to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO);
 
(g)  where the personal data are not collected from the data subject, any available information as to their 

source;
 
(h)  the existence of any automated decision-making in relation to the subject’s personal data and 

meaningful information about the logic involved, as well as the significance and the envisaged 
consequences of such processing for the data subject; and

 
(i)  where personal data are transferred outside the EU, details of the appropriate safeguards to protect 

the personal data.
 
    2.3  We shall also, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), provide the data subject with a 

copy of the personal data processed by us in a commonly used electronic form (unless the data subject 
either did not make the request by electronic means or has specifically requested not to be provided with 
the copy in electronic form) within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there 
are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend 
the period for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and 
explain the reason(s) for the delay.

 
    2.4  Before providing the personal data to the data subject making the SAR, we shall review the personal data 

requested to see if they contain the personal data of other data subjects. If they do, we may redact the 
personal data of those other data subjects prior to providing the data subject with their personal data, 
unless those other data subjects have consented to the disclosure of their personal data.

 
    2.5  If the SAR is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we may 

charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing the personal data, or 
refuse to act on the request.

 
    2.6  If we are not going to respond to the SAR we shall inform the data subject of the reason(s) for not taking 

action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.
 

3.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RECTIFY PERSONAL DATA  
 
    3.1  Data subjects have the right to have their inaccurate personal data rectified. Rectification can include 

having incomplete personal data completed, for example, by a data subject providing a supplementary 
statement regarding the data. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see 
Paragraph 9 below), rectify the personal data without undue delay.

 

Page 72



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 3

    3.2  All requests for rectification of Personal Data must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and co-
ordination. We shall also communicate the rectification of the personal data to each recipient to whom the 
personal data have been disclosed (for example, our third party service providers who process the data 
on our behalf), unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall also inform the data 
subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

 

4.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE ERASURE OF PERSONAL DATA  
 
    4.1  Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to request that we erase their personal data. 

Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), erase 
the personal data without undue delay if:

 
(a)  the personal data are no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for which they were collected 

or otherwise processed;
 
(b)  the data subject withdraws their consent to the processing of their personal data and consent was 

the basis on which the personal data were processed and there is no other legal basis for the 
processing;

 
(c)  the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data on the basis of our performance of a 

task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in us, unless we 
either can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s 
interests or fundamental rights and freedoms, or we are processing the data for the establishment, 
exercise or defence of legal claims;

 
(d)  the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data for direct marketing purposes;
 
(e)  the personal data have been unlawfully processed;
 
(f)  the personal data have to be erased for compliance with a legal obligation to which we are subject; 

or
 
(g)  the personal data have been collected in relation to the offer of e-commerce or other online services.

 
    4.2  When a data subject makes a request for erasure in the circumstances set out above, we shall, unless 

there is an exemption (see Paragraph 4.5 and Paragraph 9 below), take the following steps:
 

(a)  log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for erasure must be passed to the CIP Team for 
allocation and co-ordination;

 
(b)  confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request 

additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their 
identity;

 
(c)  search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 

subject of the request may be held and erase such data within one month of receipt of the request. If 
the request is complex, or there are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding 
by a further two months. If we extend the period for responding we shall inform the data subject 
within one month of receipt of the request and explain the reason(s) for the delay;

 
(d)  where we have made the personal data public, we must, taking reasonable steps, including technical 

measures, inform those who are processing the personal data that the data subject has requested 
the erasure by them of any links to, or copies or replications of, those personal data; and

Page 73



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 4

 
(e)  communicate the erasure of the personal data to each recipient to whom the personal data have 

been disclosed unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall also inform the 
data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

 
    4.3  If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we 

may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of erasure, or refuse to act on 
the request.

 
    4.4  If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking 

action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.
 
    4.5  In addition to the exemptions in Paragraph 9 below, we can also refuse to erase the personal data to the 

extent processing is necessary:
 

(a)  for exercising the right of freedom of expression and information;
 
(b)  for compliance with a legal obligation which requires processing by law and to which we are subject 

or for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority 
vested in us;

 
(c)  for reasons of public interest in the area of public health;
 
(d)  for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes, or statistical 

purposes in so far as the right to erasure is likely to render impossible or seriously impair the 
achievement of the objectives of that processing; or

 
(e)  for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.

 

5.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RESTRICT THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA  
 
    5.1  Data subjects have the right, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), to restrict the 

processing of their personal data if:
 

(a)  the data subject contests the accuracy of the personal data, for a period to allow us to verify the 
accuracy of the personal data;

 
(b)  the processing is unlawful and the data subject opposes the erasure of the personal data and 

requests the restriction of their use instead;
 
(c)  we no longer need the personal data for the purposes we collected them, but they are required by 

the data subject for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims; and
 
(d)  the data subject has objected to the processing, pending verification of whether we have legitimate 

grounds to override the data subject’s objection.
 
    5.2  All such requests to restrict processing must be passed to the Council’s CIP Team. Where processing has 

been restricted, we shall only process the personal data (excluding storing them):
 

(a)  with the data subject’s consent;
 
(b)  for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims;
 
(c)  for the protection of the rights of another person; or

Page 74



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 5

 
(d)  for reasons of important public interest.

 
    5.3  Prior to lifting the restriction, we shall inform the data subject of the lifting of the restriction.
 
    5.4  We shall communicate the restriction of processing of the personal data to each recipient to whom the 

personal data have been disclosed, unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall 
also inform the data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

 

6.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE PORTABILITY OF PERSONAL DATA  
 
    6.1  Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to receive their personal data that they have 

provided to us in a structured, commonly used and machine-readable format that they can then transmit 
to another company. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see 
Paragraph 9 below), provide the personal data without undue delay if:

 
(a)  the legal basis for the processing of the personal data is consent or pursuant to a contract; and
 
(b)  our processing of those data is automated.

 
    6.2  When a data subject makes a request for portability in the circumstances set out above, we shall take the 

following steps:
 

(a)  log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month 
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for portability must be passed to the CIP Team for 
allocation and co-ordination;

 
(b)  confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request 

additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their 
identity;

 
(c)  search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the 

subject of the request may be held and provide the data subject with such data (or, at the data 
subject’s request, transmit the personal data directly to another company, where technically feasible) 
within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there are a number of 
requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend the period 
for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and explain 
the reason(s) for the delay.

 
6.3  If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we 

may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing or transmitting the 
personal data, or refuse to act on the request.

 
6.4  If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking 

action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.
 

7.  RESPONDING TO OBJECTIONS TO THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA  
 
    7.1  Data subjects have the right to object to the processing of their personal data where such processing is 

on the basis of our performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official 
authority vested in us, unless we either:

 
(a)  can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s 

Page 75



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 6

interests or fundamental rights and freedoms; or
 
(b)  are processing the personal data for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.

 
    7.2  Data subjects also have the right to object to the processing of their personal data for scientific or 

historical research purposes, or statistical purposes, unless the processing is necessary for the 
performance of a task carried out for reasons of public interest.

 
    7.3  Where such an objection is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), no 

longer process a data subject’s personal data.
 
    7.4  Where personal data are processed for direct marketing purposes, data subjects have the right to object 

at any time to the processing of their personal data for such marketing. If a data subject makes such a 
request, we shall stop processing the personal data for such purposes.

    7.5  All such objections to the processing of personal data must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and 
co-ordination.

 

8.  RESPONDING TO REQUESTS NOT TO BE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATED DECISION-MAKING  
 
    8.1  Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, not to be subject to a decision based solely on the 

automated processing of their personal data, if such decision produces legal effects concerning them or 
similarly significantly affects them. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption 
(see Paragraph 9 below), no longer make such a decision unless it:

 

(a)  is necessary for entering into, or the performance of, a contract between us and the data subject;
 
(b)  is authorised by applicable law which lays down suitable measures to safeguard the data subject’s 

rights, freedoms and legitimate interests; or
 
(c)  is based on the data subject’s explicit consent.

 
    8.2  If the decision falls within Paragraph 8.1(a) or Paragraph 8.1(c), we shall implement suitable measures to 

safeguard the data subject’s rights, freedoms and legitimate interests, including the right to obtain human 
intervention, to express their point of view and to contest the decision.

 
    8.3  All such requests must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and co-ordination.

9.  EXEMPTIONS  
 

9.1  Before responding to any request we shall check whether there are any exemptions that apply to the 
personal data that are the subject of the request. Exemptions may apply where it is necessary and 
proportionate not to comply with the requests described above to safeguard:

 

(a)  national security;
 
(b)  defence;
 
(c)  public security;
 
(d)  the prevention, investigation, detection or prosecution of criminal offences or the execution of 

Page 76



Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved. 7

criminal penalties, including the safeguarding against and the prevention of threats to public security;
 
(e)  other important objectives of general national public interest, in particular an important national 

economic or financial interest, including monetary, budgetary and taxation matters, public health and 
social security;

 
(f)  the protection of judicial independence and judicial proceedings;
 
(g)  the prevention, investigation, detection and prosecution of breaches of ethics for regulated 

professions;
 
(h)  a monitoring, inspection or regulatory function connected, even occasionally, to the exercise of 

official authority in the cases referred to in Paragraph 9.1(a) and Paragraph 9.1(g) above;
 
(i) the protection of the data subject or the rights and freedoms of others; or
 
(j)  the enforcement of civil law claims.

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer and 
Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel - Tuesday, 24 April 2018
Council – 11 July 2018 

(Author: Anthony Hodson-Curran Councillor Development Co-Ordinator)

Subject Councillor Development Strategy 2018-23

Purpose: To enable the Panel to consider the proposed approach to councillor training 
and development which has been developed for the Councillor Development 
Steering Group.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Panel review the draft Strategy;

2) That the Panel consider the Strategy’s alignment with the Corporate Plan and 
Transformation Programme;

3) That the Panel make recommendations for change as appropriate to the Chairman of the 
Steering Group for its consideration and action.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council’s previous strategy has expired. A new one is needed to cover the final year of 
this electoral period and the new Council.

1.2 The current draft was considered and agreed for progress by the Councillor Development 
Steering Group on 27th February 2018.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing: the strategy will not have a wider input and challenge

2.2 Consider and recommend changes to the draft document

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Council allocates a budget of £10,000 to Councillor Development. It is appropriate that 
this expenditure is directed strategically against Council priorities, supporting the role of 
elected members and the robustness of the Council.

Page 79

Agenda Item 12.



3.2 The strategy gives a shape to the assessment of development needs: balancing those of 
the Council, especially in its governance and quasi-judicial functions with those of individual 
councillors.

3.3 The strategy seeks to align with the Corporate Plan and the Moving Forward Programme 
by emphasising the development of online learning methods

 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The strategy provides a transparent document against which to test the commissioning and 
provision of training and development. It covers performance measures, which will be 
developed in detail by the Councillor Development Steering Group, so the economy, 
effectiveness and efficiency of programmes and events can be checked.

4.2 Should the Council decide to seek Charter for Member Development accreditation from the 
Local Government association again, a strategy is an essential underpinning document, 
demonstrating a planned and proactive approach.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Strategy will align Councillor Development with the Corporate Plan.

5.2 Transformation Programme

5.2.1 The Strategy will align Councillor Development with the Transformation Programme.

Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Rhonda Booth – Democratic Services Manager
Telephone Number 01775 764705
Email: rbooth@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 
Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A   Draft Councillor Development Strategy 2018-23

Page 80



1

Councillor and Local 
Democracy

Development Strategy
2018 –23

Page 81



2

Contents

1. Leader’s Statement
2. Executive Summary
3. Introduction
4. Policy Statement
5. Operating Context
 Councillors
 Democracy
 Charter Plus
6. Resources: Budget, Income, Staff, Partners, Contracts.
7. Methods: Assessing Needs, Delivery
8. Work Areas
9. Performance

Appendices (to follow)

1. Councillor Development Plan 
2. Councillor Development Programme 
3. Performance Measures
4. Councillor Role Profiles
5. "Charter" Requirements

Page 82



3

Leader’s Statement (to draft)

 Transforming the Complex Organisation that is Council
 Developing Councillors to lead Organisation and represent Community
 Communicating and operating digitally
 Being the Best Councillors

Page 83



4

Executive Summary

Introduction

1. This Strategy is owned by the Councillor Development Steering Group on behalf of 
all Councillors.

2. It is an internal operational document that sets out the direction of Councillor and 
Democracy Development until 2023 when it will be refreshed to take into account the 
direction and needs of the newly elected Council. It aligns with the Corporate Plan, 
which is itself being refreshed in 2019.
 The Strategy outlines the issues that the Council seeks to tackle and the 

resources available to do so across the Council: Councillor and Democracy 
Development are tasks for all of us.

 It summarises our priorities, the methods we intend to use and our measures.
 It shows the links to and contribution of Councillor and Democracy Development 

to the Council’s Corporate Plan; leading the Council and representing the 
Community. It includes a set of measures to assess the effectiveness of the work 
of the team. 

3. Its overall purpose is to develop skilled and knowledgeable Councillors who are 
capable and confident leaders and representatives of their communities. 

Council Transformation

1. We have a Moving Forward programme focussed on Digitalisation, Aligning Public 
Services, Organisational Design and Commercialisation to ensure delivery of our 
Corporate Plan which itself has four priorities. 

2. Councillor and Democracy Development are brought together in one strategy to 
ensure that we are better able to listen to and inform local people and that their 
voices are informed and confident in return. 

3. Our initial focus is on Councillor Development. Better Councillors will be better 
decision makers as well as better listeners, able to use resources more effectively to 
achieve clearer goals, making successful Council Transformation more achievable.

4. We aim to rely increasingly on e-Learning and other digital packages to enable 
Councillors to train at a time and place that suits them.

5. We will pay closer attention to Democracy Development after the new Council is 
elected in 2019. 

Councillor Development

1. We aim to enable Councillors to be confident that they have the skills and knowledge 
to be effective. 

Page 84



5

2. The Council expects that all its members will identify and address their development 
needs on a day to day basis and as part of the greater Development Needs Analysis. 

3. This means new learning as well as maintaining existing skills and knowledge 
throughout their term from attending prospective councillor events through induction 
and during their period of office.

4. The Councillor Development Steering Group will ensure that wider organisational 
needs are identified. This will then be used to create a costed Development 
Programme that in turn will form the basis for budget setting and commissioning.

Democracy Development

1. The Strategy focusses on offering Councillors the skills development and subject 
knowledge needed to be advocates for their communities. We will also continue to 
work with local schools and ensure prospective candidates for election have access 
to the information they need.

2. In all areas we will utilise and develop digital methods of communication. We will 
work with County and Parish Councils because they are the other local democratic 
organisations. 

3. We will be active across the district with community groups including our status as a 
housing stock retaining Council, to deliver under Priority 2 of the Council’s Corporate 
Plan: “To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to 
develop and thrive”.

Operating Context

1. Our Charter accreditation has recently lapsed and we intend to use a re-application 
to boost our commitment to development. The Council is intent on focussing on 
delivering learning events that meet the needs of its members. 

2. It recognises that it is halfway through the municipal cycle so capturing detailed 
development needs information is difficult. It will therefore offer a refreshed “core 
curriculum.” This is based on the views of Councillor Development Steering Group, 
Cabinet members, Committee chairmen and individual councillors.

3. The Council recently undertook a LGA Peer Challenge. The report was considered 
by Council on 12 April 2017 and it informs this strategy in its emphasis on local 
leadership and engagement.

Performance Management

1. We have to know how well we are doing: in our use of resources, against our 
planned work, in improving what we do and in the eyes of local people, to ensure we 
contribute appropriately to meeting out Corporate Plan commitments. 

Page 85



6

2. We will look at our resources, our systems, their quality and our improvement and 
track that we continue to meet the accreditation requirements for Charter. 

Page 86



7

Introduction

1. South Holland Council reaffirms its commitment to Councillor Development and will 
consider reapplying for Charter. 

2. \The Council sees Councillor Development as a means of building capacity and 
resilience for its Moving Forward programme and to deliver its Corporate Plan. The 
Council will support its members in championing democracy in their local 
communities, serving the district as a whole and leading the Council. Councillors are 
decision makers, watchdogs, volunteers, caseworkers, sign-posters and 
campaigners.

3. The Council was previously Charter accredited but this lapsed in 2016. We aim to 
offer a robust and varied development programme that responds to individual and 
corporate priorities and needs.  This will underpin any future Charter re-application.

4. Delivery of the Strategy is the responsibility of the Democratic Services team. Their 
work, which is overseen by the Councillor Development Steering Group, is captured 
in a Councillor Development Plan. It identifies work for the remaining Council term 
and the year of the new Council until December 2020. 

5. The Strategy is in the context of the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, aligning to 
the election cycle and our 4 Priorities:
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 

protecting the most vulnerable;
 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop 

and thrive;
 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way;
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

6. The 2016 Peer Challenge referenced a number of leadership and engagement 
issues while acknowledging the investment in elected member training and 
development.

7. The Councillor Development Steering Group will review the Strategy at the start of 
each new municipal cycle and the Development Plan each year to ensure they adapt 
to new issues and changes in resource. This will also ensure that both documents 
support our Transformation Programme of Digitalisation, Aligning Public Services, 
Commercialisation and Organisation Design. 

8. The Strategy will continue to:
 Encourage members of the community to stand and participate in elections;
 Support, develop and retain Councillors;
 Identify and address individual and organisational needs through an annual 

programme of training, events and campaigns;
 Provide a range of training options to meet learning styles and lifestyle.

Page 87



8

9. Commercialise our work where possible to generate income and improve our 
reputation.

Page 88



9

Policy Statement

1. Every councillor can access learning activities that will provide them with the skills 
and knowledge necessary to perform their duties effectively. 

2. All individuals and communities have the right to be represented by an effective 
councillor and to engage in democratic processes.

3. All learning activities will be accessible across political groups and will conform to the 
Council’s Policy and Procedures.

4. Learning activity for Councillors and Committees will be based on the Council’s and 
the individual’s needs deriving from:

• Corporate priorities as expressed in the Council’s Corporate Plan and Moving 
Forward Programme;

• Legal/Constitutional requirements;
• Recommendations from inspections and audits;
• Needs identified through Personal Development Analysis (PDAs).

5. An induction programme will take place at the start of each electoral cycle. It will also 
be provided for councillors elected at by-elections.

6. The assessment and analysis of the training and development needs of individual 
councillors as well as the collective needs of the Council will be reviewed during their 
term of office.  

7. A prioritised, comprehensive programme will be produced to meet those identified 
and prioritised needs .It will be delivered in a range of ways with an increasing 
emphasis on “E learning” as we strive to meet learning preferences and minimise the 
impact on volunteers who are often “time poor.”

8. Councillors are expected to participate in development and learning assessment and 
activity. Without training in areas such as planning and licensing they cannot fulfil 
their quasi-judicial roles. A Development Agreement will be provided as part of the 
Induction process

Page 89



10

Operating Context

Councillor Development

1. The Council intends to significantly improve its Councillor Development. It was 
awarded the Charter for Member Development in 2013. It will consider reapplying for 
Charter accreditation once a new robust programme is in place for the new Council in 
2020..

2. Activity and resources are overseen by a Councillor Development Steering Group, 
made up of 7 Councillors, including the Executive Member for Governance.

3. Our purpose is to develop skilled and knowledgeable Councillors representing 
informed and confident people in strong independent communities. In short we want 
South Holland Councillors to lead the Council and steer its transformation on behalf 
of their communities.

The Council

1. South Holland is a District Council. It delivers and commissions a range of services 
including refuse collection, planning and housing landlord services. Its key 
relationships are with Lincolnshire County Council, other Lincolnshire districts, local 
Councils and its shared management partner Breckland District.  

2. Support services are provided by Compass Point Business Services, a company 
owned and controlled by the Council and East Lindsey Council. This arrangement 
was reviewed in 2017 and will be the subject of a new contract from April 2018.

3. The Council as a whole is transforming, continuing its commitment to Excellence and 
Value for Money through its Moving Forward programme by: 

 enabling better service and access through digitalisation,
  aligning public services  to optimise the use of its assets to generate income and 

as better operation / contact bases. DWP will share premises from spring 2018.
  commercialisation, trading as well as outsourcing  with the recent focus on Public 

Protection a key example,
 becoming ever more economic through better organisational design.

4. This means that change will be our steady state, so it is vital that we begin to take a 
strategic approach to Councillor Development: providing the skills and knowledge to 
manage risk, allocate resources and assess our effectiveness in achieving the right 
outcomes.

5. Digitalisation is a key development issue. It will affect the way we deliver training, 
how Councillors work and how we interact with communities and citizens.

6. Services in many areas, including the Management Team and Councillor 
Development are shared with Breckland Council. This ongoing relationship provides 
continuing opportunities for improving member development while retaining the 
political distinctiveness of each authority.

Page 90



11

7. The Council operates a Cabinet System, with a range of Committees and Panels 
covering Planning, Licensing, Audit, Appeals and Overview & Scrutiny. This creates 
a need for leadership skills and statutory knowledge.

8. The Council recently undertook a joint LGA Peer Challenge with Breckland. The 
report was considered by Council in April 2017 and it informs this strategy in its 
emphasis on local leadership and engagement and ensuring that our Transformation 
work has cohesion and clarity.

9.  It recognises the ambition to regain Charter and the keenness of South Holland and 
Breckland councillors to learn from each other, while stressing the need to learn from 
the experiences of Welland Homes and Compass Point, in providing political 
oversight and strategic direction.

Councillors

1. South Holland has 37 Councillors representing 18 wards. At the time of writing the 
political composition is a Conservative administration of 27 members and in 
opposition, 8 Independent Councillors and 1 unaligned. 

2. Councillors need the skills and knowledge to steer this complex organisation and 
bring the contribution and concerns of their communities to the table. They also bring 
their individual mix of experience, skills and knowledge. Approximately 60% of our 
Councillors work. A few of them are also Parish Councillors or County Councillors. 

3. The Council has restated its commitment to Councillor Development, carrying out an 
interim Development Needs Survey in 2017. It will use this alongside its 
understanding of organisational needs to ensure learning and development builds 
capacity. 

4. For example, Councillors need to be ever more “digitally savvy.” If we can work with 
them to implement paperless agendas and communicate online, we can save money 
and they can make more effective use of time: becoming more available for their 
local communities.

Democracy

1. South Holland is a rural district, between Peterborough and Lincoln. It has a largely 
agricultural economy and is centred on market towns including Holbeach and 
Crowland with Spalding being the administrative centre.

2. Electorally, it is divided into 18 wards and is part of one parliamentary constituency.

3. There are 22 Parish Councils in South Holland. We are 1 of 6 districts within 
Lincolnshire, which is also served by a County Council.

Page 91



12

Population

1. South Holland’s growing population is around 90,000. There has been a medium 
term decline in the percentage of people under 64 with a growth in those who are 65 
or older.

2. 5.9% of our population are from recent EU accession countries which is higher than 
both County and English figures.  

Election turnout

1. People vote in South Holland. 66.1% turned out nationally in the 2015 General 
Election: our local figures was 64.59%

2. Our local election turnout showed a wide range from 46.89% in Spalding St Paul’s  to 
67.94% at Moulton / Weston/ Cowbit

Participation at South Holland Council

1. People generally do not attend Council meetings unless they are directly affected (a 
planning, licensing or appeal decision for example.) Decisions are not “Called In” by 
local people. 

2. Overview and Scrutiny operates proactively through Performance Monitoring and 
Policy Development Panels. They have sought to address organisational and locally 
important issues proactively such as paper and printing, empty homes and leisure 
facilities

3. It is vital that the Council supports its Councillors as community leaders, to ensure 
that comment and challenge are heard and responded to.

Charter

1.  Charter is broadly Investors in People for Councillors. Charter has been a significant 
factor in our Councillor and Democracy Development. Its aim is to ensure that 
Councillors are able to shape debate whilst continuing to fulfil their role. Charter 
criteria were reviewed towards the end of 2016.

2. The requirements for Charter can be found at 
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7632544/MD+Charter+and+Charter+Plus+
Requirements.pdf/8f27184e-8a4d-4915-9c4a-315fd3aeb813

3. The Council was awarded Charter status in 2013. Assessment was centred on 4 
Charter Standards which have been reduced to 3.

 Commitment to Councillor development and support
 Strategic approach to Councillor development
 Learning and development is effective in building capacity

Page 92

http://www.investorsinpeople.co.uk/
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7632544/MD+Charter+and+Charter+Plus+Requirements.pdf/8f27184e-8a4d-4915-9c4a-315fd3aeb813
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/7632544/MD+Charter+and+Charter+Plus+Requirements.pdf/8f27184e-8a4d-4915-9c4a-315fd3aeb813


13

4. These standards are clear threads in this Strategy and our Plan. Charter status is 
awarded for 3 years; our 2013 award expired in 2016. 

5. The Council will consider reaccreditation and this will be a priority for the new Council 
in 2019/20 based on developing and delivering a needs based programme of 
effective learning activity.

Page 93



14

Resources

This section outlines the financial, human and asset resources available for Councillor and 
Democracy Development. 

Financial

1. The annual budget for 2017/8 is £10,000. There is no anticipated change to the 
budget for the remaining period of the strategy. 

2. There is limited opportunity for income generation. Where appropriate events will be 
offered to Parish Councils and to neighbouring / partner authorities. The current 
charging rate for development events is £45 per head.

Staff and Councillors

1. Councillor Development is lead by Democratic Services; however, the wider staff 
establishment also has a role to play. Executive and Service Managers are central to 
identifying and addressing the knowledge issues for their service and committees, 
especially where quasi-judicial functions are concerned.

2. Councillors trained as trainers / mentors will also have an important role to fill and all 
members are expected to support and participate in Local Democracy activities in 
their wards. They also have a direct role to play in identifying needs, evaluating their 
own learning activities and shaping our approach through the Development Panel.

Partners, 

1. South Holland District Council (SHDC) shares a management team with Breckland. 
The two authorities provide joint training events in some areas, notably licensing but 
have chosen to maintain separate roles and strategies. 

2. Compass Point Business Services which provides Information Technology, Human 
Resources, Customer Services, Revenues and Benefits and Financial Services

3. County and Parishes: we intend to develop more joint opportunities for local councils 
and to explore access to County training events.

4. The East of England Local Government Association: East Midlands Councils and 
regional Association of Democratic Services Officers.

Commissioning & Contracts

1. We will consider the most effective way to deliver needs assessment and learning 
activities for Councillors for the new Council in 2019. 

2. Where specialist knowledge and / or “gravitas” are needed we will procure niche 
providers. Generic skills and knowledge can be delivered by South Holland / partner 
employees or sourced from more general providers as long as they understand the 
specific needs of councillors and local government as a sector

Page 94



15

3. We will consider procuring a Development Needs Assessment for the new Council to 
ensure we have a robust and confidential process from which we can build a learning 
programme.

4. We will consider what are the most economic, efficient and effective ways of 
providing training with a shift to online / IT based delivery

5. Democracy development will be undertaken directly by Councillors and Council 
officers.

Page 95



16

Methods 

Member Development

Assessing and Documenting Needs

1. Assessing development needs requires a process to understand the existing skills 
and knowledge and learning needs of individuals together with the needs of the 
organisation. 

2. Any process we use or procure will reflect the National Political Skills Framework. Its 
six core skills are:

 Local Leadership 
 Partnership Working
 Communication Skills
 Political Understanding
 Scrutiny and Challenge
 Regulating and Monitoring

3. We need to understand the development needs of Councillors over the course of 
their “career” and how they relate to our Corporate Plan and Transformation 
Programme. This will change over time and can most easily be broken down into 4 
year programmes mirroring the electoral cycle of the Council. Councillors also have a 
range of roles and specialisms: Leader, Executive Member, Committee Chair etc., for 
which there are specific learning areas.

4. As we assess training needs we aim to capture Councillors’ existing skills and 
knowledge. This assessment process for individual Councillors will be reported to the 
Councillor Development Steering Group to ensure that wider organisational needs 
are met. 

5. The Council expects that all its members will engage with the assessment and 
address their development needs. In return the Council will offer a robust, convenient 
and confidential process that will be analysed to show common needs from which a 
wider programme can be constructed.

Prioritising Councillor Development

1. All Councillors are expected to take part in learning activities provided by the Council 
as part of its annual programme that address the needs of the Council and  needs 
which they have identified themselves within the assessment process. 

2. Some training is considered mandatory:  this is the case where statutory duties need 
to be discharged, such as planning and licensing or where the Councillor has a 
leadership role (Portfolio Holder, Committee Chairman, etc.) or where there is 
significant risk for the Council & to protect the individual councillor, such as 
safeguarding vulnerable people.  

Page 96

http://www.seemp.co.uk/index/cllrgov/cllrdev.htm


17

3. New councillors are expected to take part in the full range of induction learning 
activities to ensure they understand their responsibilities and how the Council works. 
Activities must be geared to helping new Councillors become effective as quickly as 
possible.

4. Training that supports the Council’s Moving Forward transformation programme will 
be prioritised with CDSG and Cabinet supporting participation and take up.

5. Councillors can also choose to undertake optional development if they wish to 
increase their skills and knowledge for particular roles or subject areas, subject to 
resources.

Delivery

1. The methods we use for Councillor Development and to address Local Democracy 
need to be varied to suit the learning preference and knowledge base of the 
individual, the needs of the organisation and the nature of the subject. 

2. We intend to significantly increase our use of online / IT based training to enable 
Councillors to learn where and when it is convenient for them

3. As part of the development of a new Councillor Development programme for the 
2019 intake, we will consider what the best means of delivery for both skills and 
knowledge training is in partnership with our providers. The options include:

 In person
 Full session
 Bite size
 Webcast
 Video
 Mentors
 Briefing note
 Workbook

Democracy Development

1. The way we work in communities needs to be appropriate to the situation. We must 
recognise that people who do not engage in democratic processes often have 
significant barriers of health, mobility, location or language. 

2. We aim to improve our Local Democracy activities including events to encourage 
people to stand as Councillors.

3. Councillors themselves will have a central role in this: within their wards as well as 
working with the targeted groups.

Evaluation

1. We need to show that Councillor and Democracy Development make a real 
difference, so we need to set up measures. Achieving the strategic objectives in our 

Page 97



18

Corporate Plan and Transformation Programme is a headline reflection of effective 
councillor learning and development.

2. The role of Councillor Development Steering Group in the evaluation of learning and 
development solutions is critical to the continuous improvement of learning events 
and associated materials.  

3. After learning events, it is important to consider participants experience to inform 
future planning and in some instances reinforce the learning that has taken place. 
Similar we need to reflect back on the wider programme of events: do they make 
sense together, are they cohesive?

4. Participants are expected to complete evaluation forms at the end of all learning 
events that take place in the Council.  Where events for members are organised by 
other organisations, councillors are expected to discuss the value of the events on 
their return and distribute learning materials to others. Evaluation will also monitor 
councillor access to and take-up of training opportunities.

5. A summary of event evaluation will be submitted to Councillor Development Steering 
Group.

Page 98



19

Priority Work Areas 2018-20

The work areas derive from the needs of the organisation, the needs of individual 
Councillors and the needs of the community. Our immediate priorities are outlined below and 
are covered in more detail in our Plans.

Councillors

1. Councillors need to have the skills and knowledge to lead our “Moving Forward” 
Transformation while being a robust conduit for their communities. 

2. Councillors also have ongoing needs. We will offer an interim programme of primarily 
digital events to meet these needs for the rest of the municipal cycle.

3. The new Council will need an Induction programme to help the Council gel as well as 
to ensure that roles and responsibilities are clear.

4. For the new Council we will commission a Needs Analysis so that we are able to 
assess individual needs and ensure our next Four Year Development Programme is 
current.

Democracy

1. Our work must help communities to be informed, confident and independent. Our 
immediate priorities are to continue our work with local schools.

2.  In the medium term, this will mean targeting any groups, communities or localities 
that are significantly less engaged in democratic processes than the rest of South 
Holland. 

Council

1. We will consider reapplication for Charter in 2020 as a contribution to the “Pride” and 
“Right Services” priorities in the Corporate Plan. Charter can provide confidence to 
our communities and partners that we value our political processes and the people 
who represent them.

2. We will develop our commissioning role which supports the commercialisation of the 
Council

3. We will support transformation and especially digitalisation by developing online 
delivery, assessment and event booking.

Page 99



20

Performance

1. The Strategy assesses the effectiveness of Councillor and Democracy Development 
by the outcomes it enables for the Council. 

2. The main outcome we are seeking is highly skilled and knowledgeable Councillors 
representing informed and confident people in strong independent communities.

3. Our key quantitative outputs are successful reapplication for Charter in 2018 and 
robust planning for Charter Plus application in 2019. 

4. We aspire to a 10 out of 10 score from every participant at every learning and 
development event that we commission. If we don’t score 10 we will ask why and 
with the provider, try to improve.

5. During the life of the Strategy, we will keep management data and introduce a range 
of measures to see and report how well we are doing. The measures will look at the 
cost and quality of what we do with a focus on seeing if we can make real changes: 
outcomes that affect electoral turnout or the number of people standing for election 
for example.

6. Our measures for 2018/19 are included in the Councillor Development Plan.

Page 100



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel – 1 May 2018

(Author: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 101

Agenda Item 13.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 
Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.
Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Gregory Watkinson Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764599Tel: 01775 764599
Email: gwatkinson@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2017/18

Page 102



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
1 May 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 

issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Data Protection Policy – To review the policy in light of the 
requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) (Mark Stinson)

 Housing Allocation Policy (Martin Cregg)
 Corporate Enforcement Policy (Sarah Shipley)
 Councillor Development Strategy

26 June 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 To provide an update report on Houses in Multiple 
Occupation. (Phil Stacey)

 To consider a draft version of the Equalities Policy 
(Charlotte Paine / Claire Burton)

 FOI Policy (Charlotte Paine)
 Street Naming Policy (Clinton Bell)

19 September 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Update on current situation around long-term empty 
homes (previous updates 22/7/15, 13/1/16, 5/7/16 and 
28/2/17).

 Update report on progress of recommendations of the 
Paper and Postage Costs Task Group (Task Group 
Chairman, Councillor Astill)

6 November 2018  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

15 January 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

5 March 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration of 
issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Strategic Tenancy Policy (Matthew Hogan)

Note: Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAM ME 2017/2018

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership of 
Task Group

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first meeting
To look at the Council’s current policies 
on Public Open Spaces and what could 
be developed to help in the future.
In addition, following the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s review of implemented 
planning decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from this review 
to be addressed through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 23 November 
2017

J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J Tyrrell(Chairman)
B Alcock (PMP)
A M Newton (PMP)

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows:
 To develop the new policy in light of 

issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting.

3 October 
2017

11 December 
2017

H Drury
M D McLean
A R Woolf 
(Chairman)
A Harrison 

To PDP 1 May 2018 
To Cabinet 29 May 2018

Planning Design Scope to be agreed at a later date.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
2018, after 
end of 
examination 
period of 
Local Plan.

To be confirmed

P
age 105



Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) and 
Homelessness

An officer of the Private Sector Housing 
Team attended meeting on 5 December 
2017 to explain processes and issues 
around HMOs. Officer will report back 
after new legislation has come into force 
in 2018. Consideration to be then given to 
setting up a task group and scope.
Issues raised are detailed within PDP 
minutes of 25 July 2017.

25 July 2017 To 
commence 
following 
completion of 
Planning 
Design Task 
Group

To be confirmed

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members 
of the Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, regarding 
the present and future leisure     provision 
in South Holland.
1. By establishing what leisure provision 

the District Council presently 
provides, examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and competitiveness in 
order to identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District 
Council wishes to provide and what 
the public and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future 
provision either to be supplied by the 
Council, the private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A 
date for completion of the Business Plan 
looking at Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the Community 
Development and Health Manager, be 
confirmed by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, be 

30 April 2013 21 January 
2014

G Aley (Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins (Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: Phil 
Adams

* Membership to 
be considered 
following District 
Council Election

Interim report presented 
to joint PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 October 
2014
Tracking of 
recommendations to 
PDP 10 February 2015 
Update on Leisure 
options to PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP members to 
attend PMP meeting)

P
age 106



arranged.
Following consideration of the update to 
PMP on 3 March 2015 (PDP members 
were invited to attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a priority for the 
Council, and must be considered as a 
priority by the next administration 
following the District Council election.

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Corporate Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 1 for Corporate Enforcement Policy

	10. Housing Allocation Policy
	11. Data Protection Policy
	Appendix A - Data Protection Policy (draft)
	Appendix B - Data Security Breach Procedure (1st draft)
	Appendix C - Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

	12. Councillor Development Strategy
	Appendix 1 for Councillor Development Strategy

	13. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


